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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

For year ended 30 June 2015 

Hon Liza Harvey MLA 
Minister for Police; Road Safety; 
Training and Workforce Development; Women's Interests

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament,  
the Annual Report of the Department of Training and Workforce Development for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

DR RUTH SHEAN
DIRECTOR GENERAL
(ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY)

14 August 2015
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FROM THE DIRECTOR GENERAL 

The 2014–15 financial year saw many 
significant strategic changes within the 
vocational education and training sector, 
the original motivation for which was largely 
determined by the National Partnership 
Agreement on Skills Reform – the 
Commonwealth funding agreement which 
outlines the reform agenda. The agreed goals 
of the national partnership included increasing 
the skills level of the working age population 
and their participation in the workforce. Specific 
targets for quality and transparency underpin 
access to and outcomes for training. Another 
set of targets focussed on the provision of 
information to students, with a focus on quality, 
frequency and relevance.

The above strategic goals translated into a 
range of major reforms for Western Australia, 
chief among which was the introduction of 
Future Skills WA – a new student centred model 
for prioritising and funding training. Future Skills 
WA included a revised student subsidy and fee 
structure which reflected the relative priority 
of qualifications. State priority courses attract 
a relatively high rate of subsidy in order to 
stimulate enrolments in qualifications that align 
with anticipated jobs in demand. These courses 
attract more than an 80 per cent subsidy 
towards the total cost of training, and focus on 
those areas of greatest employment demand.

The introduction of Future Skills WA was timely 
as there was concern within the Western 
Australian Government about the high level 
of public subsidy for those courses which 
did not and would not lead to employment. 
While training which improves leisure and 
wellbeing is a valuable part of society, to 
provide such training using tax payers funds 
at a time of fiscal constraint is difficult to 
justify. Data suggest that Future Skills WA 
has been effective in redirecting resources 
to students seeking employment outcomes. 
The Department will continue to monitor 
enrolments with a view to providing advice 
to Government on strategies to minimise any 
unintended consequences of the changes to 
student fees and subsidies.

While talking about Commonwealth reforms, the 
Commonwealth Government announced that 
it would be ceasing its contribution to the Joint 
Group Training program. This will result in a 
reduction of $2.5 million in annual funding which 
currently supports group training organisations 
to employ apprentices and trainees. The State 
Government has committed to maintaining its 
funding contribution of around $3 million in 
2015–16. Nevertheless, the withdrawal of the 
Commonwealth funding will mean that overall 
funding levels will be significantly reduced. 

DR RUTH SHEAN
DIRECTOR GENERAL
Department of Training and  
Workforce Development
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This may have a negative effect on 
the uptake of apprentices and trainees 
through group training organisations.  
Our intent is to target our own contribution 
towards disadvantaged students as well 
as school-based apprentices and trainees 
to ensure the best possible outcomes.

Over several years, Australian 
Governments have debated the future 
of apprenticeship support services. In 
September 2014 the Commonwealth 
Government announced that a new 
generation of Commonwealth funded 
apprenticeship support services, the 
Australian Apprenticeship Support 
Network, would commence on 1 July 2015 
following a tender process. The new 
Commonwealth funded service has a 
greater focus on delivery of direct support 
to apprentices and employers with the 
aim of raising student completion rates. 
In response, we will reshape our own 
services to ensure that we complement 
rather than duplicate the services 
provided by the Commonwealth. In this 
respect, our focus will be our legislated 
responsibilities under the Vocational 
Education and Training Act 1996.

 

All of these reforms make strategic sense. 
The announcement of a policy initiative  
is one thing: its successful implementation 
quite another, as the following example 
demonstrates.

The unique student identifier (USI) was 
one of the reform requirements introduced 
through the national partnership. Every 
student must have their own USI 
before they can be issued with their 
qualification. Students will benefit from 
having a complete and enduring record 
of their vocational education and training 
achievement throughout their working 
life and government policy makers will 
have access to better quality data to get 
a clearer picture of student outcomes 
to inform future policy directions. The 
implementation of the USI, however, is 
not nearly as simple. There have been 
concerns about the constraints which 
apply, and which affect the useability 
of the scheme. The very issue of each 
person managing their own computer 
generated random 10 digit alpha-numeric 
identifier in itself is difficult. Our providers 
have been working hard to comply with 
the requirements, and we are grateful to 
the flexibility of all to try to work within  
the constraints. 

Similarly, the ongoing implementation 
of Future Skills WA has involved the 
skill, commitment, focus and goodwill 
of hundreds across the sector. At the 
Department, we have a regular round 
table where senior staff talk through their 
respective areas of work such that any 
problems which arise are guaranteed 
cooperative solutions. A monthly 
teleconference of State Training Provider 
(STP) Managing Directors has served a 
similar purpose. Working groups of staff 
from across the State meet regularly to 
talk through our collective challenges,  
be they fees, computer issues or 
enrolment glitches.

As always, it is the people who make 
policy work, and lead to better outcomes 
for all. I would like to acknowledge the 
work of all colleagues across the sector, 
be they within our own Department, other 
government agencies, our public and 
private service provider agencies or our 
industry partners. Every initiative from 
within our Department depends on teams 
of people from across the sector working 
collaboratively. We routinely reach our set 
targets and I am truly grateful to you all for 
working with us in such a productive way.
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Finally, I would like to acknowledge the 
first year of operation of the Training 
Business Centre (TBC) – the human 
resource, payroll and financial transaction 
centre which services the Department and 
the STP network. The Centre transferred 
to us 12 months ago from the Department 
of Education. I am delighted to be able 
to report that the level of satisfaction 
regarding the service from the STPs has 
increased significantly and is very high 
indeed. The original intent was to operate 
the TBC for 18 months during which time 
we would upgrade the computer software 
then make a decision in relation to the 
most efficient and effective delivery of 
these services including the possibility of 
the rollout to the STPs. The efficiencies 
which the staff have been able to effect 
over the last year, however, are such 
that the service provided to the STPs 
now exceeds previous levels of service, 
and the shared approach has provided 
efficiencies through economies of scale. 
While we are still open to a transfer of 
resource and responsibility, it is becoming 
clearer by the day that the current 
arrangement is meeting with very high 
levels of approval from the STP network. 

It is clear from our combined actions of 
the past year, that we have met our goals, 
and overcome significant obstacles to 
do so. When you read this report which 
lists outcomes and achievements, please 
do so with the knowledge that you have 
contributed to all which sits within.

DR RUTH SHEAN
DIRECTOR GENERAL
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TRAINING AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 
IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA 2014–15 

1.37 million
in employment 

 1.9% full time and  
 3.3% part time 

compared to 2013–14

68.6% 
labour force participation

1 445 700 people 
working or actively 

seeking work  0.6%
compared to 2013–14

79 447* 
enrolments in priority 

training  9.3%
compared to 2013  

140+  
individuals and agencies 

working with the 
Department on workforce 
development initiatives

increase of 
18 900 

in net overseas migration to 
Western Australia in 2014

140 039*  
vocational education and 

training enrolments

increase of 
43 200  

people employed in  
skilled occupations 

compared to 2013–14

health care and 
social assistance 

industry is the largest employer 
followed by the construction 
industry and retail industry

42 921 
apprentices and trainees 

in training  2.6% 
compared to 2013–14

2 120 
Aboriginal job seekers 
received training and 

workforce development 
assistance  

19 243 
career advice  
client contacts

5 171*
enrolments in the Participation 

Program (assisting 
under-represented groups)

* publicly funded course enrolments in 2014 (public and private providers)
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FUTURE SKILLS WA IN 2014
How many people undertook priority training?

Top five industries for students enrolled in 
priority training 

83.2% of subject enrolments in publicly funded 
training resulted in a successful outcome

66 008
61.7% of all 
publicly funded 
students

14.1%Manufacturing

10.9%Health care & social assistance 

7.1%Construction  

6.1%Accommodation & food services    

4.8%Professional, scientific & technical services  

Qualification completions by level*

*Australian qualification framework level

Diploma+

Certificate IV

Certificate III

Certificate II

Certificate I

14.6%

21.4%

22.5%
36.4%

5.1%

Perth/regional 

Where was priority training delivered?

Regional 
Perth
74.4%

Pilbara
16.3%
Kimberley
10.0%

Great Southern
13.8%
South West
19.0%

Regional
25.6%

Wheatbelt
8.5%
Goldfields/Esperance
10.2%

Peel
10.0%

Mid West/Gascoyne
12.2%

What priority training courses were they studying?
Diploma 
and above
10.2%

Certificate I 6.2%

Certificate III
57.6%

Certificate II
7.6%

Certificate IV
18.4%

Top five industries for students enrolled in priority 
training 

6.0%Electrician

5.9%Child care worker

3.3%Aged or disabled carer

3.2%Motor mechanic

3.0%Hospitality worker

Top five occupations for students enrolled in 
priority training 

What were the age groups of 
people undertaking 
priority training?

49.4%

42.1%

15–24 years

25–49 years

50+ years

8.4%

How satisfied were students 
studying with public providers?

86.9%    
were satisfied with their course   

85.8%    
were satisfied with the likelihood 
that their course will lead 
to employment  

85.4%    
were satisfied with the quality 
of their lecturers   

83.3%    
were satisfied with the facilities 
available at training providers
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS 2014–15
Outcomes

High level of student satisfaction
(source: Western Australian State Student Satisfaction Survey, 2014, Department of Training and Workforce Development)

86.9%

Proportion of graduates employed after training
(source: Student Outcomes Survey, 2014, National Centre for Vocational Education Research)

79.2%

High level of satisfaction among Aboriginal students
(source: Western Australian State Student Satisfaction Survey, 2014, Department of Training and Workforce Development)

93.7%

Outputs

Number of publicly funded vocational education and training (VET) student course enrolments1, 2 140 039

Number of publicly funded VET students1, 2 107 037

Number of student curriculum hours1 35.1 million

Apprenticeship commencements3 8 378

Traineeship commencements3 20 914

Apprentices and trainees in training4 42 921

Inputs

Spending on training and workforce development3 $671.4 million

Registered training organisations contracted to provide publicly funded training1 282

Department full time equivalent employees4 500.5

Spending on training infrastructure3 $59.8 million

1 Data are for the 2014 calendar year.   2 The term 'publicly funded' describes training funded by or through the Department.   3 Data are for 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.   4 At 30 June 2015.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 2014–15 

STATE APPROPRIATIONS ($'000)

439 711 Service appropriation 

4 356 Royalties for Regions Fund 

1 642 Resources received free of charge 

COMMONWEALTH GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES ($'000)

200 695 Commonwealth grants and subsidies

$671.4 MILLION ON  
TRAINING AND  
WORKFORCE  
DEVELOPMENT

63.6%

28.7%

7.7%

Major expense 
categories

81.8% grants and  
subsidies

8.9% employee benefits 
expenses

9.3% supplies and  
services

$700.6 million
appropriations  
and revenue

COMMERCIAL AND OTHER REVENUE ($'000)

49 908 User charges and fees 

1 722 Interest revenue 

2 659 Other revenue

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES ($'000)

416 342 State Training Providers and Western Australian 
Academy of Performing Arts

123 493 Private training providers

7 736 Other

1 719 State Training Providers and Western Australian 
Academy of Performing Arts capital grants
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VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

VISION
All Western Australians can be part of a  
skilled workforce to meet the economic  
and community needs of Western Australia.

MISSION 
We work to build the Western Australian 
workforce to meet the State’s economic  
and community needs.

VALUES 
In all our decisions, operations and 
relationships we value: 

Innovation: in responding to the needs of 
clients and stakeholders. 

Integrity: in designing, directing, delivering 
and evaluating workforce development  
and training.

Quality: in planning and service delivery to 
achieve client centred outcomes.

Inclusiveness: in funding and providing 
services that meet the needs of all  
Western Australians.

Collaboration: through fostering strong 
relationships with stakeholders to balance 
diverse needs and achieve common goals.
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVE 

DR RUTH SHEAN
Director General 

Dr Ruth Shean has been Director 
General of the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development since 
December 2009. Previous roles 
include Commissioner for Public Sector 
Standards, Director General of the 
Disability Services Commission and 
Director General of the Department for 
Community Development. Ruth has 
also been a non-government CEO, 
held leadership positions on State and 
Commonwealth Government reviews 
and committees and has comprehensive 
experience in university governance. 
Ruth represents the Department on 
the Council of Australian Governments 
Industry and Skills Council and is a 
member of the School Curriculum and 
Standards Authority Board. Ruth has 
a Master’s Degree and a Doctorate 
of Philosophy from the University of 
Western Australia. She is a Fellow of the 
Governance Institute of Australia and the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

SIMON WALKER
Executive Director, Policy,  
Planning and Innovation

Simon Walker began his career in the 
public sector as a financial analyst for 
Central TAFE after working in the private 
sector for 15 years. Simon joined the 
Department of Training in 1997 and has 
since worked in a variety of senior roles 
with a particular focus on VET sectoral 
planning, policy and resourcing. Simon 
represents Western Australia on the 
national Skills Senior Officials Network 
as well as being a member of the Curtin 
University School of Economics and 
Finance Advisory Board, ex-officio 
member of the Western Australian 
State Training Board and a Director of 
the board of the National Centre for 
Vocational Education and Research. 
Simon is also Chair of the State 
Government Workforce Development 
Advisory Group.

RUSSELL BROWN
Executive Director,  
Service Resource Management

Russell Brown has worked in the State 
Government for over 35 years and has 
been with the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development for the 
past five years. Previous appointments 
include senior positions leading agency 
specific procurement and funding 
programs, quality standards compliance 
for the disability sector and several 
Commonwealth and State joint programs. 
Russell holds an Advanced Diploma in 
Government (Procurement), a Diploma 
in Training the Handicapped and has 
received accreditation from the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.



2014–15 Annual Report 16

CORPORATE EXECUTIVE 

KAREN HO
Executive Director, Service Delivery

Karen Ho was appointed to her current 
role in April 2014. Prior to this appointment 
Karen accumulated 25 years of State 
public sector experience spanning 
labour market and educational research, 
program and policy evaluation, strategic 
policy and planning, legislative reform 
and service delivery. Karen’s most recent 
senior executive roles have included 
Director Service Delivery Strategy in the 
Department of Training and Workforce 
Development, Director Policy and 
Aboriginal Services in the Department 
of the Attorney General and Director 
Policy and Review in the Department 
of Education and Training. Karen 
graduated from the University of Western 
Australia with a Bachelor of Science 
(First Class Honours in Psychology) and 
has completed a Graduate Certificate in 
Management from Curtin University.

GRAHAM THOMPSON
Executive Director, Corporate

Graham Thompson has worked in the 
public sector for over 20 years and has 
a broad range of experience in senior 
roles at the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services, Department of 
Treasury, Disability Services Commission 
and WorkCover. Graham has been a 
Chief Financial Officer within the State 
Government for 12 years. He has a 
Bachelor of Business and is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. 
Graham currently represents the 
Department as a member of the 
Polytechnic West Governing Council.

Meetings
Corporate Executive met 47 times during 2014–15. Minutes of meetings are 
accessible to staff on the Department's intranet.
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WHAT WE DO

The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development manages the State 
Government’s investment in vocational 
education and training (VET) and builds the 
Western Australian workforce for the future.

As Western Australia’s economy continues to 
grow and diversify, the Department delivers 
effective and relevant strategies to ensure  
the Western Australian workforce meets 
industry needs. 

Department functions are directly aligned to 
its Strategic plan 2014–2018 and the goals of 
Skilling WA, a whole of government plan for 
Western Australia’s workforce of nearly  
1.4 million people. 

Functions include statewide coordination  
of workforce development activities, 
planning, policy development, migration 
strategies, publicly funded VET and other 
programs and services to build and support 
the Western Australian workforce.

The Department’s outcomes directly assist 
the State Government to achieve its goal of 
results-based service delivery: greater 
focus on achieving results in key service 
delivery areas, for the benefit of all  
Western Australians.

This is achieved through strategic focus on:

• planning and coordinating the State 
Government response to workforce 
development issues in Western Australia;

• growing Western Australia’s workforce 
through attraction, retention, participation 
and skilled migration strategies;

• delivering an innovative, flexible and 
responsive training system; and

• governing the Department’s services and 
performance systems to ensure they are 
client centred, of the highest quality and 
managed in an open, transparent and 
accountable manner.

As the State Training Authority, the 
Department administers Western Australia’s 
VET system. This involves managing the 
investment of public resources to provide a 
quality training system. 

Training is delivered via a network of State 
and private training providers. The mixed 
delivery model gives people greater choice 
in how and where they study, making 
training attractive and accessible to all 
Western Australians. Increased quality and 
participation in training directly contributes to 
building the workforce for the future.

% of population  
in training

Based on national training agreement enrolments
for working age population (15–64 yo)

Kimberley
15%

Pilbara
8%

Mid West
11%

Gascoyne
11%

Goldfields-Esperance
7%

Wheatbelt
8%

Great Southern

12%
South West

Peel 7%
Perth 5%

7%
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The Department is structured around a 
funder/purchaser/provider model, where 
the funder of a service is distanced  
from both the purchaser and the provider 
of that service. This model increases  
client responsiveness, transparency  
and accountability.

Funder sections determine how the 
Department’s funding will be allocated. 
They are responsible for strategic planning 
and reporting against those plans. They 
work with industry, training providers, the 
community, and government at all levels 
to coordinate the State’s response to 
local needs and national initiatives. These 
sections are grouped into the Policy 
Planning and Innovation directorate.

Purchaser sections procure services 
to meet the needs identified by the 
funder sections and are responsible 
for the ongoing contract management 
with service providers. They purchase 
training and other services from State 
Training Providers (STPs), private training 
providers and community organisations. 
This may include ancillary support services 
for students, including those with special 
needs. They are also responsible for 

the development and management of 
the State’s training infrastructure, the 
development of governance processes 
for STPs and the revitalisation of Muresk 
Institute. These sections are grouped into 
the Service Resource Management 
directorate.

Provider sections deliver services directly 
to the community through the Service 
Delivery directorate. They are:

• ApprentiCentre

• Career Centre

• Migration Services including Skilled 
Assessments, Overseas Qualifications 
Unit and Skilled Migration WA

• Aboriginal workforce development 
centres

• Training Sector Services including State 
Training Admissions

• Education and Training International.

The Corporate directorate is responsible 
for establishing, maintaining and 
monitoring the Department’s governance 
structures, and providing corporate 
oversight and administration of the 

Department’s resources (financial, 
physical, and information and 
communications technology).

HOW WE DO IT 

Workforce development
engagement

Great SouthernSouth West

Kimberley

Pilbara

Gascoyne

Mid West

Goldfields-Esperance

Wheatbelt

Peel

Perth

Aboriginal training and employment program

Aboriginal workforce development centre

Career centre

Regional workforce development alliance

Stakeholder/industry engagement

Workforce development centre
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NATIONAL CONTEXT 

Vocational education and training  
policy is formulated at a national level  
with strategic advice and input from states 
and territories. 

The national training system operates 
under the auspices of the Council of 
Australian Governments Industry and 
Skills Council (CISC) and its national  
sub-committees and groups.

Western Australia is represented on  
CISC by the Minister for Training and 
Workforce Development. The  
Department represents Western Australia 
on the following CISC sub-committees 
and groups.

• Skills Senior Officials Network

• Secretaries Committee

• State level CISC Officers Working 
Group

• Skills Action Plan Working Group

In 2014–15, the Department provided 
strategic advice to CISC on issues 
including:

• a national system of streamlined 
industry defined qualifications that can 
respond flexibly to major national and 
state priorities and emerging areas of 
skills need;

• trade apprenticeships that are 
appropriately valued and utilised as a 
career pathway;

• a modern and responsive national 
regulatory system that applies a  
risk-management approach and 
supports a competitive and  
well-functioning market;

• informed consumers who have  
access to information they need to 
make choices about providers and 
training; and

• targeted and effective government 
funding. 
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OPERATING STRUCTURE 

Responsible Minister 
The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development is responsible to the Minister 
for Training and Workforce Development. 
Until 8 December 2014, the Minister  
was Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA. Since  
8 December 2014, the Minister has been 
Hon Liza Harvey MLA.

Enabling legislation 
The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development was established on  
30 October 2009, under section 35 of  
the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

Administered legislation
The Vocational Education and Training 
Act 1996 is administered by the Minister 
for Training and Workforce Development 
with the assistance of the Department. 
The Training Legislation Amendment and 
Repeal Act 2008 came into operation on 
10 June 2009. This legislation amended 
the Vocational Education and Training Act 
1996 and repealed the Industrial Training 
Act 1975. It provided a new legislative 
framework which allows for greater flexibility 
and a more contemporary training system. 

Other key legislation impacting 
on the Department’s activities
In the performance of its functions the 
Department complies with the following 
relevant written laws.

• Auditor General Act 2006

• Contaminated Sites Act 2003

• Corruption and Crime Commission  
Act 2003

• Disability Services Act 1993

• Education Services for Overseas 
Students Act 2000

• Electoral Act 1907

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984

• Financial Management Act 2006

• Freedom of Information Act 1992

• Industrial Relations Act 1979 

• Minimum Conditions of Employment  
Act 1993

• Occupational Safety and Health  
Act 1984

• Public Sector Management Act 1994

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

• State Records Act 2000

• State Supply Commission Act 1991

•	 Student	Identifiers	Act	2014

• Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981

• Working with Children (Criminal Record 
Checking) Act 2004
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

This report outlines the Department’s goals 
and services which are underpinned by the 
Strategic plan 2014–2018.

The Strategic plan 2014–2018 outlines the 
Department’s vision, mission and values 
and identifies key goals and strategies to 
support the State’s economic growth  
and diversification.

Key outcomes, strategies and 
responsibilities identified in the Strategic 
plan are supported by robust planning 
frameworks. These include the refreshed 
Skilling WA second edition, directorate and 
branch level operational plans outlining 
key deliverables, an innovative policy 
framework and individual performance 
development plans and targets.

Outcome based management framework

Key effectiveness indicators
Service 1 and 2:
Employer satisfaction with the skills of their 
employees (in 2013, 78.2% were satisfied)
Service 1 and 2:
Graduate employment rate
(the employment rate for 2014 was 79.2%)
Service 2:
Apprenticeship and traineeship training rate  
(the training rate for 2014 was 2.9%)
Service 2:
Apprenticeship and traineeship completion rate
(the completion rate for 2014–15 was 59.4%)

Key efficiency indicators
Service 1:
IBT unit cost (total expenditure of 
service 1/total student curriculum hours 
associated with this service) 
(The 2014–15 cost was $19.11)
Service 2:
EBT unit cost (total expenditure of 
service 2/total student curriculum hours 
associated with this service)
(The 2014–15 cost was $19.11)

Desired outcomes
A skilled workforce that meets the needs of Western Australia.
The Department of Training and Workforce Development provides Western Australia with a 
skilled workforce through training vocational students, apprentices and trainees, with skills 
identified by industry and the community.

Services
1   Institutional based training (IBT)
2   Employment based training (EBT)

A revised outcome based management framework was endorsed by the Minister for Training and Workforce 
Development in February 2015. The new framework comes into operation during the 2015–16 reporting year.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

The Department consulted with 
stakeholders throughout 2014–15 on 
initiatives to build the workforce. At 
directorate level, stakeholder engagement 
is part of ongoing policy development, 
procurement and service provision.

Major stakeholder engagement in 2014–15 
was as follows. 

Stakeholder consultation
• Skilling WA second edition

• State priority occupation list

• Vocational Education and Training  
Act 1996

• School-based apprenticeship and 
traineeship policy

• Government building training policy

• Western Australian State migration plan

• State training plan

• VET in schools reform

• Pre-apprenticeship program review

Stakeholder regional visits are conducted 
by the Director General to discuss issues 
specific to regional areas. Meetings are 
held with a range of stakeholders

including training providers, employers, 
regional development commissions, 
chambers of commerce and industry, 
local government authorities, Department 
funded agencies and Department regional 
offices. Regional visits give stakeholders 
an opportunity to discuss issues in their 
regions that are of common interest and 
share good practice models in training and 
workforce development.

In 2014–15, eight visits were made to the 
following regions.

2014:
• Mid West (Geraldton)

• Goldfields (Kalgoorlie)

• Pilbara  
(Port Hedland, Roebourne, Karratha)

• South West (Bunbury)

• Kimberley (Broome)

2015:
• Pilbara (Tom Price, Newman)

• Wheatbelt (Northam)

• Great Southern  
(Albany, Denmark, Mt Barker)

Stakeholder information forums 
and events
• National and State initiatives: national 

reform and Future Skills WA, October 
2014 (250 attendees)

• Training together – working together 
Directors General Forum, October 2014 
(34 attendees)

• Contractual requirements for registered 
training organisations, October 2014 
(125 attendees)

• Skilling WA second edition, November 
2014 (48 attendees)

• Participation program brokers and 
registered training organisations, March 
2015 (90 attendees)

• The annual Training Providers Forum 
for State and private training providers, 
industry, schools, universities and 
government (600 attendees)

• 110 e-learning workshops delivered to 
1 256 delegates, including 69 webinars 
for 598 delegates

Ten information sessions on the unique 
student identifier were conducted for external 
stakeholders across Western Australia.
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STRATEGIC GOAL 1: PLANNING AND COORDINATING 

Plan and coordinate a strategic 
State Government response to 
workforce development issues 
in Western Australia.

The Department’s mission is to build the 
Western Australian workforce to meet the 
State’s economic and community needs.  
It provides the State Government’s 
strategic response to the changing and 
diverse needs of the workforce.

The Department’s leadership in 
establishing sound workforce development 
strategies across industry, community and 
government directly contributes to the 
growth and diversification of the Western 
Australian economy. 

Evidence based research, strategic 
partnerships and cross-agency 
collaboration have been key components 
of the Department’s strategic planning 
framework to build the State’s workforce. 

This planning framework guides financial 
investment in capital development, 
technology systems and human resources. 
Workforce development policy, which 
includes increased participation and  
quality of training, also stems from this 
strategic planning.

Strategic plan 2014–2018
The Department’s vision is that all  
Western Australians can be part of  
a skilled workforce to meet the  
economic and community needs of 
Western Australia. 

The Strategic plan 2014–2018 shows the 
strategic direction the Department will take 
over the next five years and ensures it is 
well positioned to meet the State’s future 
workforce needs.

The plan, developed through extensive 
consultation with stakeholders, focuses 
on quality in service delivery and client 
outcomes, effective planning, coordination 
and governance, and strong alliances with 
industry and the community.

The first 12 month acquittal of the  
Strategic plan showed that the Department 
made significant progress in implementing 
the 71 strategies.

Skilling WA – A workforce 
development plan for Western 
Australia 
Skilling WA second edition builds on 
the work of the first edition and focuses 
State Government agencies, industry 
and community stakeholders on 
addressing Western Australia’s workforce 
development challenges. 

Consistent with the first edition, this 
strategic directions document retains the 
original five strategic goals. These goals 
are supported by 25 areas of strategic 
focus and 87 priority actions.

The Department has continued to retain a 
monitoring and reporting role for  
Skilling WA priority actions. Department 
efforts and resources are strongly focused 
on addressing workforce priorities that are 
critical to the State.
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Workforce scenarios and 
projections project
The Department is supporting the State 
Training Board (STB) in its project to 
develop future workforce scenarios for 
Western Australia. 

Four plausible future workforce scenarios 
for Western Australia have been developed 
to better understand likely trends in the 
demand and supply of skills for Western 
Australia out to 2030. Employment 
projections by industry, occupation, and 
qualification level were produced and 
analysed for each of the scenarios. 

The project will inform potential strategies 
and policies to assist the State Government 
and other stakeholders to address the 
workforce challenges likely to be facing 
Western Australia over coming decades. 

The next part of the project will be the 
development of a comprehensive report  
by the STB, which will include 
recommending potential workforce 
strategies for the future.

Workforce planning and 
development model 
The Department, in collaboration with 
key stakeholders, has developed the 
Western Australian workforce planning 
and development model. The model will 
help to deliver an overarching, integrated 
and coordinated workforce planning and 
development response to the State’s 
workforce challenges. 

Importantly, the model places all 
stakeholders including the individual, 
industry, government, community sector 
and regions at the centre of the workforce 
planning and development process.

The model also reflects the best practice 
framework and principles contained in the 
national regional workforce planning and 
development report commissioned by the 
Council of Australian Governments’ former 
Standing Council on Tertiary Education, 
Skills and Employment. 

Guided by the model, the Department 
continues to work closely with 
stakeholders to progress a range of 
initiatives to deliver positive workforce 
planning and development outcomes for 
Western Australia.

State priority occupation list 
The State priority occupation list (SPOL) 
is produced annually by the Department 
and identifies occupations which are 
considered critical to the State, and/or are 
experiencing unmet demand. 

The SPOL provides information on training 
priorities through the State training plan 
and the Priority	industry	qualifications	list. 
It also guides the priorities for the Western 
Australian skilled migration occupation list, 
and workforce development planning.

Labour market publications
The Department continues to produce 
publications which provide an overview 
of the State’s labour market conditions. 
These are used to support the 
Department’s workforce development 
initiatives. The publications are also used 
by State Training Providers, industry 
training councils, private training providers, 
industry and State and Commonwealth 
Government agencies.

In 2014–15, the Department released:
• the Western Australian labour market 

review 2013–14; and
• four separate quarterly labour market 

and economic briefs.
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Regional workforce  
development plans
Regional workforce development plans are 
an important mechanism to highlight local 
workforce development challenges and 
provide strategies to address them.

Each of Western Australia’s nine regions 
has developed or is in the process of 
developing a plan. Plans were developed 
in conjunction with the Department and 
local alliances comprising government, 
industry and community stakeholders.

In 2014–15, a workforce development plan 
was released for the Gascoyne region 
and a sub-regional plan for Katanning was 
published. 

The Gascoyne plan includes 23 priority 
actions, including initiatives to: 

• enhance links between the region’s key 
industries and education providers;

• create a job-ready labour force; and 

• encourage increased workforce 
participation for Aboriginal people and 
women.

In 2015–16, plans are expected to be 
released for the Mid West and Peel 
regions which will mean all nine regions 
in the State will have regional workforce 
development plans.

State nominated  
migration program
The State’s involvement in the State 
nominated migration program is another 
part of the Department’s integrated 
approach to workforce development. 

The program allows the State to nominate 
skilled workers for a permanent visa in 
priority occupations, through an agreement 
with the Commonwealth Government.

In 2014–15, the Department processed 
597 applications which resulted in  
446 nominations for sponsorship.

Great Southern
April 2013

South West
May 2013

Kimberley
November 2013

Pilbara
July 2013

Gascoyne
April 2015

Mid West
July 2015

Goldfields-Esperance
November 2012

Wheatbelt
December 2012

Peel
August 2015

Regional workforce  
development plans

Regional workforce
development plan released

Regional workforce
development plan to be released
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Western Australian skilled 
migration strategy
The State Government’s first workforce 
development priority is to train and prepare 
Western Australians for the workforce. 
Skilled migration, however, continues to  
be a valuable strategy in supplementing 
the workforce when local workers cannot 
be sourced.

The Department has a targeted approach 
to skilled migration. The Western 
Australian skilled migration strategy 
works in conjunction with other workforce 
development mechanisms, to maximise 
Western Australia’s participation in the 
national migration program and ensure 
employers have access to the skills  
they need. 

In 2014–15, the Department:

• participated in Commonwealth 
migration policy discussions to advance 
the State’s interests;

• responded to the Commonwealth’s 
review of the skilled migration and 
temporary activity visa programs;

• negotiated with the Commonwealth to 
deliver skills benefits through the State 
nominated migration program; and

• marketed Western Australia as a 
destination of choice to potential skilled 
migrants.

The Department continued its role as 
certifying body for the Regional Sponsored 
Migration Scheme which assists 
employers facing skills shortages in 
Western Australia.

Workplace essentials for better 
business website
Developed in partnership with industry  
and government stakeholders, the 
Workplace essentials for better business 
website is helping small to medium 
enterprises plan, attract, develop and 
retain a skilled workforce. Assisting small 
and medium businesses was identified  
as a key area of focus in Skilling WA 
second edition.

The website contains free information, 
useful links and practical tools businesses 
can use to undertake effective workforce 
planning. Since its launch in July 2013, the 
website has attracted around 1 500 users 
each month.

The website includes a suite of employer 
brochures and is regularly updated with 
information on innovative workforce 
planning and development initiatives which 
support successful business practice. 

The Department continued to work with 
its stakeholders to build on this initiative 
and further support small and medium 
enterprises in Western Australia to plan 
and develop their workforce.
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State training plan
The State training plan identifies the 
priorities for the Government’s investment 
in the vocational education and training 
sector over a four year period. 

The State training plan is a requirement  
of the Vocational Education and Training 
Act 1996, and is developed each year 
by the Department on behalf of the State 
Training Board.

The State training plan aims to ensure 
that training delivery is focused on those 
occupations with expected growth, and  
that the skill levels of Western Australians 
are increased.

The State training plan for 2015–18 
emphasises that training is targeted  
at occupations that have higher level  
skills needs. 

The plan also identifies the need for 
enhancing training opportunities for youth, 
people with disability, Aboriginal people 
and those individuals living in regional and 
remote areas.

 

Industry training councils
Industry training councils provide high level 
strategic advice to the State Government 
on workforce development and vocational 
education and training needs. Funded 
by the Department, the work of the ten 
training councils aligns with priorities set 
by the Minister for Training and Workforce 
Development, the State Training Board 
and the Department.

Training councils provide essential 
information on occupations which is used 
to update the State priority occupation 
list, the Priority	industry	qualifications	
list and the Skilled migration occupation 
list. The councils also play an important 
role in the establishment and variation 
of apprenticeships and traineeships and 
the development and review of training 
packages.

In 2014, each training council prepared 
an industry workforce development plan 
which identified major issues impacting 
on workforce development within their 
industry area and included priority actions 
to address these issues.
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State training asset  
management plan
The preparation of a State training 
asset management plan (STAMP) is a 
requirement of the Department  
of Treasury. 

The STAMP is used to recommend 
infrastructure funding proposals to the 
State Government which are strategically 
important to enhance the training capacity 
of State Training Provider (STP) campuses. 

The Department works closely with STPs to 
identify priority infrastructure requirements 
and critical remedial works to support 
quality training delivery and workforce 
development needs.

Projects funded for 2015–16 include:
• a $3 million critical remedial works 

upgrade for Central Institute of 
Technology’s ageing Mt Lawley 
campus; and

• construction of two specialist 
training facilities for Durack 
Institute of Technology; Centre for 
Resource Workforce Training; and 
the Centre for Health Industries 
Training and Workforce Development 
($24.02 million).

 
* Projects in this section are the major 
construction projects and the status reflects 
progress in relation to the completion and 
occupation of the building.

 
Projects in the major capital projects section 
include all capital works projects that have 
recorded expenditure against them in the 
2014–15 financial year.

Projects funded for 2014–15 included*:

COMPLETED new 
Trade Training Centre 
and upgrades to 
existing workshops 
at Kimberley Training 
Institute’s Broome 
campus.

$15.4 million

COMPLETED Green 
Skills training facility 
at Central Institute 
of Technology’s East 
Perth campus. 

$16 million

COMPLETED Health 
and Community 
Training Centre at 
Challenger Institute 
of Technology’s Peel 
campus. 

$5.88 million

COMPLETED 
Community Services 
and Health Science 
block at Great 
Southern Institute of 
Technology’s Albany 
campus. 

$5.76 million

PROGRESSING 
building upgrade at 
West Coast Institute's 
McLarty Avenue 
campus.

$6 million

PROGRESSING two 
specialist training 
facilities for Pilbara 
Institute: Health and 
Allied Services at 
Pundulmurra campus 
and Electrical/
Instrumentation Centre 
of Specialisation at 
Karratha campus. 
Construction to 
commence in 2015.

$21.9 million

PROGRESSING 
expansion of 
Challenger Institute 
of Technology to 
move Business and 
Information Technology, 
Community Services, 
Health, Sports and 
Lifestyle, and Access 
and Participation 
programs from the 
ageing Beaconsfield 
campus. Construction 
to commence  
in 2015.

$41.97 million

COMMENCED 
planning for 
new specialist 
Engineering Centre 
at Challenger Institute 
of Technology's 
Australian Centre for 
Energy and Process 
Training campus.

$14.4 million
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WA Training Awards
The annual WA Training Awards recognise 
outstanding achievements in training. The 
program, which has been running for over 
20 years, has significantly raised the profile 
of training and the importance  
of building the skills of the Western 
Australian workforce.

The WA Training Awards promote 
apprenticeships, traineeships and 
vocational education and training (VET)  
as the key to a successful career. The  
Awards are inclusive of people who are  
under-represented in the workforce 
including mature-age students, people 
from culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds and people of Aboriginal  
and Torres Strait Islander descent. 

The 2014 Awards program culminated 
in a presentation dinner at the Perth 
Convention and Exhibition Centre, 
attended by 520 people. The program 
attracted 166 applicants, and 42 individual 
and organisation finalists were chosen.

Eleven out of the 14 award categories 
articulated into the Australian Training Awards. 

Of the State winners, three organisations 
and six individuals represented Western 
Australia at the Australian Training  

Awards, four of which placed in the 
following categories.

• Central Institute of Technology – 
Australian International Training Provider 
of the Year 2014

• Kathryn Schache – Runner-up, 
Australian VET Teacher/Trainer of the 
Year 2014

• Emma Hay – Runner-up, Australian 
Apprentice (Trainee) of the Year 2014

• Taylor Wood – Runner-up, Australian 
School-based Apprentice of the Year 2014

WorldSkills
WorldSkills is an international skills 
competition for people under 23 years 
of age. Established in 1981, WorldSkills 
showcases the skills of young Western 
Australians, while promoting occupations 
that are a priority in the workforce. The 
Department facilitates regional competitions 
and manages the State team. Participation 
by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
and people from regional areas is 
encouraged.

In September 2014, for the first time in 25 
years, Perth hosted the WorldSkills Australia 
national competition, attracting around 500 

participants from across Australia. The event 
incorporated the annual Skills West Expo to 
maximise impact and was attended by over 
20 000 people. The Department facilitated 
the biggest Try’aSkill arena in competition 
history, with 44 interactive exhibits run by 
Western Australian training providers.

The national competition featured  
37 categories at open level and 10 at 
vocational education and training in schools 
level. TeamWA numbers increased from 
47 in 2012 to 58 in 2014 and Western 
Australia’s medal tally increased from  
14 medals (one gold) in 2012 to 16 medals  
(four gold) in 2014.

Two Western Australians won a place on the 
2015 Skills Squad from which the team will 
be picked to represent Australia at the  
43rd WorldSkills international competition in 
Sao Paulo in August 2015. Team Australia  
(the Skillaroos) will compete against  
73 countries in 24 of the 50 skills categories. 
One Western Australian will also travel to 
the event as a Skills Expert. Two Western 
Australians won scholarships and will travel 
to the United Kingdom in July 2015 for  
a leadership course and international  
work experience.
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STRATEGIC GOAL 2: GROWING 

Western Australia’s workforce 
needs are met through attraction, 
retention, participation and skilled 
migration strategies.

The Department builds the workforce through 
maximising the skills and participation of 
all Western Australians. Particular focus is 
on community members in regional areas 
and those groups who experience barriers 
or have become disengaged from the 
workforce.

Assistance is available to all Western 
Australians through statewide career 
development including targeted career and 
workforce advice to job seekers, training 
organisations and employers. 

Training together – working 
together Aboriginal workforce 
development strategy
The Department continued to implement 
Training together – working together which 
aims to assist Aboriginal people to participate 
effectively in the workforce.

Making connections and improving 
relationships between employers, job 
seekers, communities, service providers 

and government has helped the progress 
of Aboriginal people towards sustained 
employment. 

Training together – working together was the 
catalyst for a range of services to achieve 
the best possible workforce outcomes for 
Aboriginal people.

The strategy was released in 2010 and 
updated in 2014 to review progress and 
outline the next steps to address barriers to 
Aboriginal people’s successful participation in 
the workforce.

Aboriginal workforce  
development centres
A major outcome of Training together – 
working together was the establishment of a 
network of Aboriginal workforce development 
centres (AWDCs) in Perth, Bunbury, Broome, 
Kalgoorlie and Geraldton.

The centres aim to increase the participation 
of Aboriginal people in the workforce and 
address barriers to employment through: 

• advice to employers on recruitment  
and retention;

• linking employers with job seekers and 
service providers;

• liaison with schools; and 

• career support.

In 2014–15, AWDCs assisted 204 Aboriginal 
job seekers into employment or training, 
and assisted 212 employers with their 
Aboriginal employment strategies. Customer 
satisfaction with AWDC services was 
recorded at 90 per cent. 

The centres liaised with 214 service 
providers. An expo was held in Perth with 31 
employers showcasing career opportunities 
for Aboriginal job seekers during National 
Aboriginal and Islander Day Observance 
Committee (NAIDOC) week.

During 2014–15 AWDCs continued to deliver 
the following three major projects that support 
the objectives of Training together – working 
together and local Aboriginal workforce 
development priorities.

• Bunbury Aboriginal mentoring support 
services ($100 000)

• Kwinana driver training program  
($150 000)

• Aboriginal boarders support program 
($80 000)
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Aboriginal training and 
employment program
Another outcome of Training together – 
working together was the establishment 
of the Aboriginal training and employment 
(ATE) program. The program helps 
Aboriginal people in regional and remote 
communities to access training and 
employment opportunities. Aboriginal 
communities and organisations are also 
helped to develop locally based training 
and employment initiatives. 

The program operates in regions 
where there is no Aboriginal workforce 
development centre through services of 
not for profit organisations procured by the 
Department. Flexible service agreements 
allow providers to tailor services to meet 
local individual and community needs.

In 2014–15, 1 279 Aboriginal people were 
assisted with training and employment as 
part of the ATE program.

VET in schools reform
Vocational education and training (VET) 
in schools programs enable secondary 
students to undertake a nationally 
recognised VET qualification while 
completing their Western Australian 
Certificate of Education.

The Department works collaboratively  
with the education sector, School 
Curriculum and Standards Authority, 
Training Accreditation Council and training 
councils to ensure VET in schools is 
positioned as a valued senior secondary 
pathway with high quality and industry 
recognised outcomes. 

During 2014–15, the Department 
continued to work on VET in schools 
reform with a focus on the quality and 
relevance of programs offered to school 
students. Initiatives include a revised  
VET	in	schools	qualifications	register 
providing clear advice from industry to 
students, teachers and parents on the 
suitability of qualifications for delivery to 
school students. 

Additional good practice models 
showcasing schools with quality VET in 
schools programs were also developed 
and promoted.
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A collaborative approach between the 
Department, school sectors and industry 
has been the key to supporting the 
delivery of quality vocational education 
and training (VET) in schools programs 
which meet student and industry needs.
VET in schools was first introduced into 
Western Australian schools in 1997 and 
has grown into a significant and valued 
pathway for senior secondary students. By 
starting their training in school, students 
develop industry skills and knowledge 
which give them a pathway into further 
training, education or employment.
Following a State Government 
commitment to reforming VET in 
schools, the Department and school 
sectors agreed to work together to 
produce a number of resources to 
help schools plan and deliver VET 
qualifications to an industry standard.
One of these resources is a series of 
VET in schools good practice models. 
These showcase public, Catholic 
and independent schools who have 
demonstrated a strong commitment 
to providing quality VET in schools 
programs. 

The good practice models give schools 
practical advice on how to:
• develop strong partnerships;
• help students access workplace 

learning opportunities;
• structure their courses; 
• engage parents; and
• support students to complete their 

qualifications.
A total of nine good practice models 
have been released, including models for 
Clontarf Aboriginal College and Busselton 
Senior High School in 2014 –15.

Clontarf Aboriginal College VET 
Coordinator Anne Oliver said VET in 
schools programs were exceptionally 
popular at the College, with opportunities 
available in a range of industries.

Some of these included automotive, civil 
construction, hospitality, horticulture and 
rural operations.

“Students want to learn and work to get as 
much experience as they can. They enjoy 
the hands-on aspect of the programs,” 
Anne said.

“Automotive is our most popular program, 
with students keen to become heavy 
diesel mechanics.”

VET IN SCHOOLS

Pictured above: students from Clontarf Aboriginal College



2014–15 Annual Report 36

Foundation skills and  
equity training
The Department funds foundation skills 
training to help people develop language, 
literacy, numeracy and/or employability 
skills and participate in learning and 
employment. Equity courses are funded to 
promote equality of opportunity in gaining 
access to vocational education and training 
or employment.

Commitment to foundation skills training 
and equity courses continued under Future 
Skills WA, with fees kept low to encourage 
students to undertake training, particularly 
students from under-represented groups.

In 2014, there were 26 373 course 
enrolments in foundation skills programs 
with a module load completion rate of 
72.1 per cent. There were 231 course 
enrolments in equity courses with a module 
load completion rate of 87.3 per cent.

Expanding career options for 
women
A scholarship program was developed to 
encourage women into trade and industry 
areas with low female participation.

The scholarship program valued at  
$1.2 million over four years will fund  
400 scholarships of up to $3 000 each. 

The scholarships provide new 
opportunities for women to undertake 
training in a range of trade and industry 
areas. Scholarship funds can be used 
towards costs associated with training, 
including learning resources, mentoring 
and fees, or to address barriers such as 
transport costs and childcare.

The scholarship program is a joint 
initiative of the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development, the Department 
of Local Government and Communities 
and the Construction Training Fund. The 
Construction Training Fund assists with 
funding scholarships awarded in the 
construction industry.

Applications for the initial scholarship 
program closed on 15 May 2015 and 100 
scholarships were awarded in this round.

Photo of Emma Stevenson courtesy of 
Challenger Institute of Technology 
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Career advisory services
The Career Centre is a one stop shop for 
people of all ages seeking career advice 
and training information.

In January 2015, the Career Centre moved 
to Forrest Place, co-locating with other 
Department services to form the new 
Customer Service Centre.

Career Centre’s services are accessible 
statewide by email, telephone, web chat, 
social media and face to face.

Client satisfaction was reported at  
91 per cent, compared with 90 per cent  
in 2013–14.

Career Centre services are supported by 10 
workforce development centres which are 
funded by the Department to provide career 
development services from 25 sites across 
Western Australia.

In 2014–15, 11 270 initial assessments 
were undertaken through the workforce 
development centres to identify client needs 
and 10 802 career guidance sessions were 
conducted.

In 2014–15, the Career Centre:
• provided information and guidance via 19 243 client contacts, including 1 324 

web chats;

• delivered 15 career guidance workshops to visiting school groups;

• had more than 2.3 million individual website visits;

• created 7 068 portal accounts; and

• assisted 153 clients with recognition of prior learning.
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The State Government has had a strong 
training and workforce development 
presence in the Perth central business 
district (CBD) for many years, with the 
first one stop career information service 
opening its doors in the late 1980s. 

Since then, the Department’s services 
in the Perth CBD have been expanded 
to include migrant services, international 
education and training, and assistance 
to Aboriginal jobseekers and employers. 
Services were provided from different 
locations.

January 2015 marked the start of a new 
integrated approach to customer service, 
with the Career Centre, Perth Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Centre, 
Education and Training International, 
and Migration Services being co-located 
at one site.

The new Customer Service Centre in 
Perth’s Forrest Place aims for customers 
to receive the best, most relevant 
solutions and resolutions to any issues 
regarding the Department's services  
that meet or exceed the individual 
customer's needs.

The Centre features a state-of-the-art 
automated queue management system, 
which is customised to streamline 
services. The system also offers  
customer feedback and reporting 
capacity.

A ‘concierge’ service ensures that 
customers are greeted personally and 
directed to the most appropriate service. 
A waiting area, children’s corner and 
self-service kiosks are features of the 
customer focused facility.

The Centre’s clients and visitors have 
provided positive feedback about the 
central location. They are impressed with 
the self-service facilities and innovations 
to the way services are delivered, 
while also highlighting the convenience 
of having combined services at the 
one site. 

In addition, staff have had the 
opportunity to enhance their knowledge 
of other services provided by  
the Department.

CUSTOMER SERVICE CENTRE

Pictured above: the Department's Customer Service Centre
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Assessing skills and overseas 
qualifications for migrants
Migrants are a valuable resource to meet 
the needs of the State’s workforce.

The Department ensures that potential 
migrants have the necessary skills to 
work in Western Australia by providing 
formal skills assessments. In 2014–15, 
the service was provided to people 
who underwent a skills assessment 
to apply for a visa, a requirement of 
the Commonwealth Department of 
Immigration and Border Protection.

Assessments were carried out under a 
consortium arrangement with Victoria 
University (a vocational education and 
training provider) on behalf of Trades 
Recognition Australia and were conducted 
by authorised State Training Providers on 
a fee for service basis. 

In 2014–15, skills assessment services 
were provided in 19 out of 37 contracted 
trades, for applicants from 12 out of 
20 contracted countries. In total, 107 
applications were received.

The Department’s Overseas Qualifications 
Unit (OQU) provides a comparative 
assessment service, assessing overseas 
attained qualifications against Australian 
qualification levels. 

This free service provided to on shore 
clients assures employers, professional 
associations and regulatory bodies that 
potential employees have a recognised 
level of education.

In 2014–15, the OQU completed  
2 227 assessments for 1 863 applicants.

The work of the OQU is undertaken in 
conjunction with the Western Australian 
State migration plan and the Department’s 
integrated approach to addressing 
industry skill shortages and supporting the 
changing needs of the economy.

Participation program
In 2014, the Department streamlined its 
services to groups experiencing barriers to 
mainstream training or the workforce.

As part of a broader training entitlement 
model, the Participation program provides 
support and case management to assist 
these groups.

Registered training organisations 
approved to deliver courses under the 
program may offer additional support. 

Services such as mentoring, counselling, 
assistance with meals, transport, child care, 
language and literacy are provided to:

• Aboriginal people;

• people with disability;

• ex-offenders; 

• youth at risk;

• unemployed people; and

• under-employed people.

The program provides a pathway into 
higher qualifications supported through 
Future Skills WA.

Students are recruited through a panel 
of 91 preferred providers or eligible 
organisations with experience in case 
management of these groups. Providers 
are required to meet strong compliance 
criteria and show evidence of their ability 
to train.

There were 5 171 course enrolments in 
the Participation program in 2014.
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Established in 2014, the Participation 
program allows the Department to 
procure additional services for  
people who need support to access 
training, or are among those groups  
under-represented in the workforce.

This support is provided through 
approved registered training 
organisations, which may offer services 
such as mentoring, counselling, child 
care, language and literacy training.

The Participation program was designed 
to ensure a more targeted provision 
of services and more flexibility in how 
funding for these services is accessed.

It differs from previous equity programs 
by using organisations that have a case-
based management role with groups that 
are under-represented in the workforce. 
Organisations include Disability Services 
Commission, Job Services Australia 
providers and Aboriginal workforce 
development centres.

Under the Participation program, 
registered training organisations 
approved to deliver courses can respond 
more quickly to where service demands 
are and provide additional support to 

help people on a pathway into higher 
qualifications supported through  
Future Skills WA.

The State Government implemented 
Future Skills WA to ensure that people 
gain skills that lead to employment 
in areas required by industry. The 
Department’s vision is that all Western 
Australians can be part of a skilled 
workforce to meet the economic and 
community needs of Western Australia.

Student Talitha Coulthard describes 
her experience with the Participation 
program as ‘life-changing’.

She completed a Certificate III in Civil 
Construction at Ocean and Earth 
Training Specialists before being offered 
a job with the training organisation as a 
student support officer, based in Perth. 
Talitha was offered further training and 
completed her Certificate IV in Training 
and Assessment. 

“I went from student to student support 
to trainer assessor with the same 
company, building my skills base and 
learning new things as I progressed on 
this journey,” she said.

PARTICIPATION PROGRAM

Pictured above: Ocean and Earth Training Specialists' students
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STRATEGIC GOAL 3: DELIVERING 

Investment and reform delivers 
an innovative, flexible and 
responsive training system.

Western Australia’s diversifying economy 
and changing industry needs require a 
labour force that is skilled, versatile and 
highly competitive.

Training plays a critical role in preparing 
the Western Australian workforce for 
the challenges and opportunities these 
changes will bring. Training also helps 
to build the workforce by removing 
barriers and enabling disadvantaged and 
disengaged groups to participate.

The Department funds a network of public 
and private training providers to deliver 
flexible and accessible training across the 
State. Design and delivery of training are 
continuously improved to adapt to new 
demands and continue to be supported by 
progressive technology systems.

Future Skills WA
The launch of Future Skills WA in January 
2014 signalled a major reform to the way 
in which training is funded in Western 
Australia. Future Skills WA supports people

to gain skills that lead to employment in 
occupations required by industry. 

Future Skills WA provides a guaranteed 
training place for eligible students  
enrolled in State priority courses.

Future Skills WA provides:

• greater student choice of  
training provider; 

• investment in skills to meet current  
and future industry needs;

• increased access to priority training 
opportunities; and 

• a sustainable government subsidised 
training system. 

Under Future Skills WA eligible  
students are guaranteed a subsidised 
training place in over 600 State priority 
courses. These include all apprenticeships, 
eligible traineeships, over 130 priority 
industry qualifications and two priority 
foundation courses. 

In 2015, an additional 54 qualifications 
were added to the Priority industry 
qualifications	list thereby broadening 
the scope of qualifications available for 
students at a higher subsidy rate.

In addition to State priority courses, the 
State Government also funds a range of 
other general industry training courses, 
foundation skills courses and equity 
courses. Places in these courses are 
offered on the basis of available funding.

A revised student fee structure was 
implemented under Future Skills WA. 
Fees generally reflect the relative priority 
of qualifications, with State priority courses 
attracting very high rates of subsidy.

In 2014, the State 
Government on average 
subsidised around 85% of 
training costs. 
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A range of fee assistance measures were 
also introduced to assist eligible students 
with the cost of fees. This included 
the introduction of Commonwealth 
Government VET FEE-HELP loans 
for students enrolled in Diploma level 
and above qualifications and selected 
Certificate IV qualifications. 

In its first year of operation, 
Future Skills WA resulted in an overall 
increase in enrolments in priority training 
of 9.3 per cent in 2014. This represents 
continued growth in enrolments in those 
qualifications that are most closely aligned 
with the State’s current and future needs.

The strong growth in broad priority industry 
qualifications was countered, however, 
by a contraction in enrolments in general 
industry qualifications, contributing 
to an overall decline in enrolments of 
4.1 per cent.

In 2014, the Department purchased 
nationally accredited training from 11 
State Training Providers and 271 other 
registered training organisations. 

Purchased training amounted to 35.1 
million training hours and more than 
140 000 course enrolments at a cost 
of $508.8 million.

Based on the change in course 
enrolments between 2013 and 2014

Future Skills WA 
change in priority 
delivery

Great Southern
South West

Goldfields-Esperance
16%

Mid West
14%

Pilbara
13%

Kimberley
12%

Gascoyne
22%

Wheatbelt
15%

16%3%

Peel
Perth 9%

0%
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TITLE 

Future Skills WA was introduced in 2014 
and is one of the most significant changes 
to the vocational education and training 
sector in decades.
It provides a guaranteed training place for 
eligible students enrolled in courses that 
are deemed State priority qualifications, 
ensuring people gain skills that lead to 
employment in areas required by industry.
Future Skills WA provides students 
with a choice of more than 600 priority 
qualifications. These courses include all 
apprenticeships, eligible traineeships, at 
least 130 priority industry qualifications and 
two priority foundation courses.
Future Skills WA was introduced at a time 
when the State’s economy was diversifying, 
following a shift within the resources sector 
from construction to production phases. As 
a result, there is a need for training to be 
targeted at those areas within the Western 
Australian workforce where the jobs will be 
in the future.
The increased demand for training in 
priority industry areas under Future Skills 
WA led to a 9.3 per cent increase in course 
enrolments in priority training in 2014.
Durack Institute of Technology, which is a 
major provider of training in the Mid West, 
Murchison and Gascoyne regions,

has been at the forefront of these 
increases to address the skills needs of 
regional employers and businesses.
The Institute reported a 13.5 per cent 
increase in enrolments in priority 
qualifications and a 14.5 per cent 
increase in total course enrolments in 
2014. Key industry areas include early 
childhood education and care, and 
children’s services; community services 
work; aged care; commercial cookery; 
and management. These are service 
industries that meet the needs of the 
region’s diverse population.
In 2014, Durack also increased delivery in 
literacy and numeracy support, assisting 
students to develop the foundation skills 
necessary for successful participation in 
industry training programs, which lead  
to employment.
“Reforms in the training sector that have 
increased students’ access to priority 
training have enabled Durack to address the 
priority skills development needs of industry 
in our region and to contribute to workforce 
requirements across the State,” Durack 
acting Managing Director Jo Payne said.

FUTURE SKILLS WA

Pictured above: Durack Institute of Technology students
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Unique student identifier 
The unique student identifier (USI) will 
make it easier for students to find and 
collate their vocational education and 
training achievements into a single 
authenticated transcript. 

Training providers are required to 
have a valid USI for every individual 
before issuing them with a qualification 
or statement of attainment. The USI 
commenced implementation nationally  
on 1 January 2015.

As at the end of June 2015, around 60 000 
people studying with Western Australian 
State Training Providers had obtained a 
USI, while nationally well over two million 
USIs have been created across all  
training providers.

Recognition of prior learning
Recognition of prior learning (RPL) 
acknowledges formal and informal learning 
and validates existing skills and knowledge. 
Through this process students can obtain 
credits in a course and, in some cases, a 
full qualification.

Assessments are made by viewing existing 
academic records, proof of attendance, 
support by previous employers and 
processes undertaken in the workplace.

In 2014, 5 959 clients enrolled in delivery 
by recognition of prior learning in 448 
nationally accredited qualifications. Ninety 
seven per cent of this delivery was in 
Certificate III level and above.

Recognition of prior learning 
apprenticeship program
The RPL apprenticeship program helps 
unqualified individuals who have worked 
for a significant period of time within a trade 
area to have their skills and knowledge 
recognised. Through the process, 
individuals are issued a formal qualification 
through recognition of their prior learning.

In 2014–15, 366 people participated in 
the RPL apprenticeship program.
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ApprentiCentre
Western Australia’s apprenticeship system 
is critical to generating a workforce that is 
skilled and versatile.

The Department is building the workforce 
through a flexible, streamlined and  
resilient apprenticeship system that 
responds to the needs of industry and  
the changing economy.

ApprentiCentre provided rigour to the 
apprenticeship system by managing 
apprenticeship and traineeship contracts, 
maintaining records and enforcing 
legislation and regulation requirements. 

At any point in time, ApprentiCentre 
manages around 40 000 active training 
contracts with more than 9 000 employers. 
In 2014–15, ApprentiCentre registered 
nearly 30 000 training contracts, and 
provided advice to over 35 000 callers 
through the call centre.

A total of 80 per cent of employers and 
93 per cent of apprentices surveyed were 
satisfied with the call centre services.

In 2014–15, ApprentiCentre’s  
services included:

• 19 metropolitan and 10 regional field 
officers providing a personal service to 
employers, apprentices and trainees;

• website; and

• call centre.

Fact sheets on all processes and request 
forms are also available on the website. 

In 2014–15, the apprenticeship 
compliance team continued to monitor 
and assess issues relating to Part 7 of 
the Vocational Education and Training Act 
1996 and associated regulations. 

The team recovered 5 606 overdue 
training plans, visited 2 856 employers/
apprentices and facilitated 821 dispute 
resolutions.

From 1 July 2015, ApprentiCentre will 
cease operations and be replaced by the 
Apprenticeship Office*, which will focus 
more closely on legislated responsibilities 
under the Vocational Education and 
Training Act 1996. 

*for further information, please see page 56

PAPERLITE

Communicating with thousands of 
people on ApprentiCentre's database 
has become a lot more streamlined.
In 2014–15, ApprentiCentre introduced 
a project known as Paperlite, aimed 
at communicating with around 9 000 
employers and 34 060 apprentices and 
trainees via electronic means (where 
consent is granted). 
This avoids the time consuming tasks 
of printing, folding and filing letters, 
while also significantly improving 
the efficiency of ApprentiCentre’s 
communication. In addition, the 
Department has saved more than 
$33 000 by reducing letterhead, 
envelope and postage costs.
The Paperlite project was supported 
through the Department’s Information 
and Communications Technology 
systems.
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Group training organisations 
Group training is an arrangement where 
a group training organisation (GTO) 
employs apprentices and trainees and 
places them with host employers. GTOs 
primarily service small to medium size 
businesses that may not be able to commit 
to a full duration of an apprenticeship or 
traineeship. In this way, apprentices can be 
rotated between businesses and still meet 
workplace learning requirements.

In 2014–15 the Department funded and 
monitored GTOs with funding matched by 
the Commonwealth Government under the 
Joint Group Training program. 

Targeted outcomes are aligned to nationally 
agreed priority areas, skills development, 
client groups and geographical locations. 

In 2014–15, there were 1 462 
apprenticeship commencements and 1 141 
traineeship commencements with GTOs.

In 2014–15, there were 26 GTOs operating 
in Western Australia. 

The Joint Group Training program ceased 
on 30 June 2015 as the Commonwealth 
withdrew its funding contribution to the 

program. A new State funded program, the 
Western Australian Group Training program 
will commence on 1 July 2015. 

The new program will support Aboriginal 
people, including at risk students, people 
with disability, school-based apprentices 
and trainees, and regional and remote area 
apprentices/trainees.

Muresk Institute
Muresk has been providing agricultural 
education for nearly 90 years. 

Since its return from Curtin University to the 
State Government in 2012, Muresk Institute 
has been established as a multi-tenanted 
and multi-functional facility brokering both 
vocational education and training and 
higher education. 

Training focuses on agriculture, 
agribusiness, health and the resources 
sector, building the skills of the Wheatbelt 
and surrounding regions.

With regional planning showing a need for 
more highly skilled workers in agriculture, 
Muresk Institute supports delivery of 
the Bachelor of Agricultural Business 
Management delivered under partnership 

arrangements with CY O’Connor Institute 
and Charles Sturt University.

This is complemented by the Integrated 
Diploma Program delivered through 
the University of Queensland’s Gatton 
Vocational Education Centre. 

The Institute offers a comprehensive 
industry driven annual short course 
calendar through a range of partners to 
meet ‘just in time’ training needs. 

Muresk Institute brokers training for 
the resources sector which has direct 
employment outcomes and collaborates 
with Job Services Australia to provide 
work experience on site for long-term 
unemployed people. 
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A new collaboration between 
Muresk Institute and the University 
of Queensland’s Gatton Vocational 
Education Centre led to the introduction 
of the Integrated Diploma Program 
(Diploma of Agriculture) in 2015.

A key part of the Agricultural Skills 
Development Pathway program, which 
provides for a range of courses for the 
agricultural industry, the Diploma was 
contextualised for Western Australia’s 
farming conditions.

Industry leaders identified that there is an 
unmet demand for workers with higher 
level technical and applied skills who  
are able to undertake a range of  
practical tasks. 

As a result, the Diploma aims to 
strengthen agricultural education and 
skills development in Western Australia, 
providing graduates with high level 
industry-driven technical skills. This will 
prepare them to work in areas such as 
agricultural production and management, 
rural merchandising, technical advisory 
roles, and research and development.

The two year program will fill a gap in the 
market between Certificate graduates 
and university Degree programs. It will 
lead graduates on a pathway to direct 
employment or articulation to higher 
education. This could include agricultural 
degree programs in both Western 
Australia and selected universities in the 
eastern states.

Targeting existing workers and those new 
to the industry, the Diploma includes a 
mix of theoretical and practical work, with 
expert trainers from the agricultural and 
agribusiness industry.

Muresk Institute has a significant role to 
play in supporting Australian agriculture 
to capitalise on growth opportunities and 
more broadly shoring up sustainability  
for regional communities. These 
programs create stronger links between 
Muresk and the agricultural industry, 
while also cementing Muresk’s mandate 
to develop as a multi-tenanted,  
multi-functional facility.

MURESK INSTITUTE

Pictured above: Muresk Institute students
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Government building  
training policy
Under the Priority start – building policy, 
apprentice and trainee employment targets 
are set for State Government building 
and construction projects with a labour 
component of more than $300 000.

In 2014–15, contractors undertaking State 
Government building and construction 
projects reported the employment of 587 
apprentices and trainees.

As part of the Department’s commitment 
to continuous improvement, a review of 
the Priority start – building policy was 
conducted in consultation with industry 
and State Government contracting 
agencies. A new policy, the Government 
building training policy, was developed 
which addresses the key deficiencies with 
Priority start identified through the reviews 
conducted by the Department and the 
Office of the Auditor General.

In March 2015, Government endorsed the 
new Government building training policy. 
Implementation arrangements are currently 
being finalised. The new policy will come 
into effect from 1 October 2015. 

Pre-apprenticeship program
A review of the pre-apprenticeship 
program was conducted in consultation 
with industry focusing on reducing student 
fees and ensuring employers’ continuing 
commitment to the program. The review 
found ongoing industry support for the 
program which was considered a valuable 
pathway for students to develop trade 
related skills and enter apprenticeships. 
The review recommended:

1 removal of all Certificate I  
pre-apprenticeship courses and some 
Certificate II pre-apprenticeship courses;

2 a continued mandatory work placement 
coordination and supervision 
component, but removal of this 
component from the pre-apprenticeship 
course outline to reduce student fees; 

3 introduction of flat rate funding of the 
work placement component for the 
training provider;

4 removal of the three month mandatory 
reduction to a related apprenticeship for 
graduates of pre-apprenticeships; and

5 improved governance and monitoring.

Recommendations 1–4 were implemented 
and 5 is finalised for implementation  
in 2016.

External validation project
A key reform under the National Partnership 
Agreement on Skills Reform was 
developing a process for the independent 
validation of training provider assessments. 
External validation was seen as a strategy 
to improve the quality of assessment 
processes and maintain the integrity of the 
training system.

Western Australia piloted a model of 
external validation of registered training 
organisation assessment practices from 
2012 to 2014. Four pilots were completed.

• Certificates III and IV in Aged Care

• Certificate IV in Training and 
Assessment

• Certificate III in Light Vehicle 
Mechanical Technology

• Certificate III in Bricklaying and 
Blocklaying
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Building the capacity of the  
VET sector
The Department continues to develop  
the capability of the vocational education 
and training (VET) sector through the 
provision of professional development, 
resources and a range of learning 
experiences. 

Key functions include:

• providing professional development 
workshops (online and face to face) to 
registered training providers; and

• coordinating the professional 
development activities of the State 
Training Providers. 

In 2014–15, the Department conducted 114 
professional development workshops for  
1 447 VET practitioners. Ninety six per cent 
of surveyed participants reported they were 
satisfied with the workshops.

The Department also provided e-learning 
and curriculum development services 
and a range of print and online teaching 
resources. 

Vocational Education and  
Training Act review
Vocational education and training in 
Western Australia is underpinned by  
the Vocational Education and Training  
Act 1996 (VET Act).

The VET Act establishes the basis for 
governance of the vocational education and 
training system. The VET Act also provides 
the mechanisms to ensure the State 
training system meets the needs of industry 
and the community.

State legislation requires that Acts are 
reviewed every five years. In accordance 
with this requirement, a review of the 
VET Act was commenced during 2014.

VET stakeholders were invited to make 
submissions to the review. 

National harmonisation of 
Australian apprenticeships
States and territories agreed to seven 
principles to streamline the apprenticeship 
system. The goal is a national approach to 
regulation while retaining state and territory 
legislative and operational responsibility. 

The Department has: 

• implemented nationally consistent 
administrative arrangements, enabling 
apprentices to move between states 
and territories; and

• aligned minimum employment 
requirements across jurisdictions.

During 2014–15, the Department:

• progressed the alignment of nominal 
durations; and

• circulated the nationally agreed training 
plan template, which registered training 
organisations can use to assist training 
plan development.
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School-based apprenticeships 
and traineeships
School-based apprenticeships and 
traineeships are paid employment based 
training programs for full time school 
students 15 years or older. Under this 
arrangement, students can be both in  
full time study and in a paid job. 
Employment and training privileges and 
responsibilities are the same as for other 
apprentices/trainees. 

Training contracts are integrated with 
the school learning program and 
school-based apprenticeship and 
traineeship achievements contribute 
towards the Western Australian Certificate 
of Education. The Department maintains 
a register of industry supported vocational 
education and training qualifications that 
can be undertaken under a school-based 
apprenticeship or traineeship.

In 2014, there were 1 140 commencements 
in school-based apprenticeships and 
traineeships, and 740 completions.

Aboriginal school-based training
The Aboriginal school-based training 
program (ASBT) aims to increase the 
number of young Aboriginal people in 
training. The program is funded by the 
Department and managed in partnership 
with the school sectors. ASBT is available 
to Aboriginal school students across 
regional and metropolitan Western 
Australia.

Aboriginal students in Years 10, 11 and 12 
are able to start training while at school 
to gain a qualification or sustainable 
employment. ASBT is delivered through a 
combination of training carried out at school 
and in a registered training organisation 
environment. It is offered as institutional 
training or employment based training in 
the form of a school-based apprenticeship 
or traineeship. Additional funding to 
provide support services for school-based 
apprentices and trainees can be sourced 
through the Joint Group Training program.

In 2013, the Department revised its 
school-based apprenticeship and 
traineeship policy to include the ASBT 
employment based pathway and align 
conditions for all school-based apprentices 
and trainees. These changes have further 

improved participation and retention and 
ensured ongoing quality of the training 
outcome.

In 2014, there were 352 enrolments in the 
institutional pathway. In 2014, there were 
266 commencements and 93 completions 
in the traineeship pathway.

Travel and accommodation 
allowance
The travel and accommodation allowance 
offers financial assistance to apprentices 
and trainees required to travel long 
distances to attend off the job training. 
Although primarily allocated to those living 
in regional areas of Western Australia, 
some metropolitan apprentices and 
trainees are eligible for the allowance.

The allowance assists apprentices and 
trainees to complete their qualifications and 
become part of a skilled local workforce. 

In 2014–15, 1 513 students received funds 
from the Department towards the costs of 
their travel and accommodation.

In February 2015, the Travel and 
accommodation allowance policy was 
amended to reflect the doubling of the 
accommodation allowance.
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International training markets
International education is the third biggest 
export industry in Australia. 

The Department, through Education 
and Training International, works in a 
consortium arrangement with State 
Training Providers to provide a centralised 
recruitment and admissions function for 
international vocational education and 
training students in Western Australia. 
Consortium members offer courses which 
range from Certificate level to Advanced 
Diploma and Associate Degree as well as 
the English Language Intensive Course for 
Overseas Students. 

In 2014–15, Western Australia achieved 
growth of nearly six per cent in this highly 
competitive market for international 
vocational education and training. This was 
largely due to the growth in students from 
India, whose numbers more than doubled 
to become the largest national contingent, 
while numbers from Brazil, China and 
Korea declined.

Training Providers Forum
The annual Training Providers Forum  
is a key professional development 
opportunity for the vocational education  
and training sector. 

In May 2015, the forum attracted 461 
participants, representing State and private 
training providers, industry, schools, 
universities and government.

The two day conference and exhibition 
focused on topics such as industry 
engagement, vocational currency  
and compliance.
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STRATEGIC GOAL 4: GOVERNING 

The Department’s services, 
systems and performance 
are client centred, of the 
highest quality and managed 
in an open, transparent and 
accountable manner.

The Department maintains high quality 
and client centred processes, ensuring 
that its systems, services and performance 
continue to be transparent and 
accountable. Plans, policies, procedures, 
purchasing, service provision and internal 
and external activities are continually 
reviewed and audited to ensure quality and 
performance targets are achieved.

Information technology
The Department continued to support 
training and workforce development 
services through enhanced information 
technology systems. 

In 2014–15, the following information 
technology initiatives were completed.

• The new Information and 
communications technology strategy 
2014–18 was developed.

The strategy will guide investment 
over the next five years as the 
Department delivers modern, 
efficient and sustainable systems 
within the emerging environments of 
cloud, mobile, social and analytics 
technologies.

• Training systems for the future is 
a multi-year program delivering 
contemporary, flexible and  
enterprise-scale systems that support 
the national vocational education 
and training (VET) reform agenda. 
Department and State Training Provider 
(STP) systems were enhanced during 
2014–15 to meet new regulatory and 
compliance standards, including:

◦ incorporating the unique student 
identifier for student enrolments 
and awards from 1 January 2015, 
complying with new Commonwealth 
legislation; 

◦ enabling the new purchasing 
framework and reporting 
requirements under the Future Skills 
WA entitlement model; and

◦ replacing the Department’s obsolete 
curriculum management system with 
a new curriculum data system to 
improve the quality and usability of 
national VET curriculum information.

• The Quality business systems program 
has overseen the upgrade of out of 
date finance and human resources 
systems for the STPs, which are 
managed centrally for the sector by the 
Department’s Training Business Centre, 
as well as migrating the Department 
onto the same systems. 

Major projects scheduled for  
2015–16 include:

• a new VET procurement system; 

• a new apprenticeship and traineeship 
management system; and

• a new student management system 
used by STPs for student enrolment, 
class management, and resulting.
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Independent review of the VET 
sector in Western Australia
In October 2013, the Minister for 
Training and Workforce Development 
commissioned an independent review 
of the vocational education and training 
(VET) sector to provide advice on:

• a model for the most appropriate level of 
autonomy for metropolitan and regional 
State Training Providers (STPs);

• strategies to support the growth  
of regional STPs in a more open 
market; and

• a framework for streamlined information 
flows from industry and the VET sector 
to the Minister.

Emeritus Professor Margaret Seares 
conducted the review with advice from 
representatives from across government 
and the VET sector. The review report5 
was released and comments were invited 
by July 2014. The Minister’s response was 
released in November 2014. 

The Department has established a 
comprehensive process to monitor 
recommendations and report on 
implementation progress. A report is 
provided to the Minister every quarter.

Responsiveness to clients
Responsiveness to customer feedback 
was maintained and verified through a 
range of internal and external surveys.

The student satisfaction survey is used to 
track the quality of the service provided by 
STPs and to gain a better understanding 
of customers and their needs. Each year, 
around 10 000 students provide feedback 
on their satisfaction levels with STPs. 

The 2014 survey shows 86.9 per cent of 
students were satisfied with their course, 
up from 85.9 per cent in 2013.

Aspects attracting the highest levels of 
satisfaction were:

• likelihood that the course will lead to a 
job/career (85.8%);

• quality of lecturers (85.4%); and 

• facilities available at their training 
provider (83.3%).

Employment based students in 2014 
were significantly more satisfied with their 
course (89%), up from the 2013 figure  
of 86.4 per cent.

The survey is conducted by SMS, email, 
online and through telephone interviews.

Evaluating and reporting
The Department’s evaluation processes 
were guided by an evaluation framework 
to ensure continuing quality outcomes and 
value for money in service provision. 

External evaluations of the following 
programs and services were completed or 
progressed during 2014–15.

• Course in Applied Vocational  
Study Skills

• Course in Underpinning Skills for 
Industry Qualifications

• Career Centre

• Disability support services by  
training providers 

Regular post evaluation monitoring 
ensures that appropriate actions have 
been implemented in response to 
recommendations.

 5 The report and the Minister’s response are available at dtwd.wa.gov.au.
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State Training  
Provider governance
A full review of the State Training Provider 
Governing Council Handbook was 
undertaken to take account of current 
conditions, including the increased role the 
Public Sector Commission has in providing 
guidance to public sector boards and 
committees. The process for establishing 
and reviewing Managing Director 
performance agreements was transitioned to 
the Public Sector Commission to manage. 

A review of State Training Provider (STP)
reporting requirements commenced, which 
included research into maturity models 
that could inform the level of autonomy 
granted to STPs. STP reporting has been 
streamlined to reduce duplication with 
other reporting requirements. 

The process for appointing governing 
council representatives was reviewed 
and new guidelines were established to 
facilitate governing council nomination 
committees. The guidelines include a 
skills audit process for existing governing 
council members, to assist in identifying 
any gaps that may be covered through the 
recruitment process.

Contractual compliance and 
monitoring framework for 
registered training organisations
All private training providers in receipt 
of public funding to deliver training are 
required to meet compliance auditing 
standards.

In 2014–15, the Department conducted 176 
desktop and 26 on site contractual audits. 
A total of 89 training providers were deemed 
to be contractually non-compliant.

The Department also conducts an 
annual invalid enrolment audit on public 
and private training providers, which 
collects evidence of student participation 
in publicly funded training. The State 
invalid enrolment rate for private training 
providers for 2014 was 1.4 per cent and 
the rate for public providers (STPs and the 
Western Australian Academy of Performing 
Arts) was 1.5 per cent.

Rigorous governance processes and 
compliance extend to support services 
offered to apprentices, trainees, employers 
and other clients of the Department.

Office of the State Training Board
The State Training Board (STB) is the peak 
body that provides advice to the Minister for 
Training and Workforce Development on 
training and industry needs.

The Office of the State Training Board 
provides high level strategic and 
administrative support to the board on  
a range of issues, including the 
management of:

• strategic projects on behalf of  
the STB;

• the establishment and variation of 
apprenticeships process; 

• Training Accreditation Council appeals; 

• STB recognition process for industry 
training councils; 

• collaboration between the STB, the 
industry training councils and the 
Department on key issues; and

• six board meetings each year including 
one regional visit.
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Future Skills WA
In 2014, the Government introduced 
Future Skills WA as a requirement under 
the National Partnership Agreement 
on Skills Reform. Future Skills WA 
included a revised student subsidy and 
fee structure, which reflects the relative 
priority of qualifications, with State priority 
courses attracting relatively high rates of 
subsidy in order to stimulate enrolments 
in qualifications that align with anticipated 
jobs in demand. These courses attract 
a greater than 80 per cent fee subsidy, 
and focus on those areas of greatest 
employment demand.

The Department will continue to monitor 
enrolments with a view to providing advice 
to Government on strategies to minimise 
any unintended consequences of the 
changes to student subsidies and fees.

Joint Group Training program
The Commonwealth Government ceased 
its contribution to the Joint Group Training 
program on 30 June 2015. $2.95 million in 
annual State funding is currently available 
to support group training organisations 
to employ apprentices and trainees. 
The State Government has committed 
to maintaining its funding contribution, 
estimated to be $3 million in 2015–16. 

The withdrawal of the Commonwealth 
Government’s contribution will mean that 
overall funding levels will be significantly 
reduced. This may have a negative impact 
on the uptake of apprentices and trainees 
through group training arrangements.

 

Changes to apprenticeship 
support services
New Commonwealth Government 
funded apprenticeship support services, 
the Australian Apprenticeship Support 
Network, will commence in July 2015 
with a greater focus on delivery of direct 
support to apprentices and employers with 
the aim of raising completion rates.

In response, State funded apprenticeship 
services will be reshaped to ensure  
that they complement, rather than 
duplicate, those provided by the 
Commonwealth Government. 

Consequently, from 1 July 2015, the 
Department will focus on its legislated 
responsibilities under the Vocational 
Education and Training Act 1996 through 
the new Apprenticeship Office.
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National governance 
arrangements
2014–15 saw significant changes to the 
way in which the national vocational 
education and training system operates. 
The establishment of the new Council of 
Australian Governments Industry and Skills 
Council (CISC) and its supporting sub-
committees and groups replaced the former 
governance arrangements for vocational 
education and training in Australia.

Priority areas for CISC are increased 
industry involvement, improving consumer 
information and a review of national 
training products. 

The Department represents Western 
Australia on several high level cross-
jurisdictional sub-committees of CISC, 
communicating the State’s position on 
national policy development and leading 
development and coordination of advice 
across relevant State agencies.

Unique student identifier
The unique student identifier (USI) scheme 
commenced implementation nationally 
from 1 January 2015.

The USI will make it easier for students to 
find and collate their vocational education 
and training achievements into a single 
authenticated transcript. Training providers 
are required to have a valid USI for every 
individual before they issue them with a 
qualification or statement of attainment.

Diverse economy and changing 
labour market
During 2014–15, the Western Australian 
labour market maintained its transitional 
period as the resource sector moved from 
construction to the production phase. 

Future Skills WA has been an effective 
lever to match potential students and 
job seekers with skill levels in demand. 
This issue, however, continues to pose 
significant challenges in maintaining a 
suitably skilled workforce in the State.

The Department continues to work closely 
with stakeholders to address these 
challenges through Skilling WA –  
A workforce development plan for  
Western Australia. 

The second edition of Skilling WA 
announced recently, will build on the 
achievements of Skilling WA and set a 
whole of government goal for the State to 
build, attract and retain a skilled workforce.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Certification of financial statements 

For year ended 30 June 2015 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Training and Workforce Development have been prepared in  
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the  
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the financial position as at 30 June 2015. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial  
statements misleading or inaccurate.

DR RUTH SHEAN
DIRECTOR GENERAL
(ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY)

14 August 2015

SANDY KERR 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE SERVICES 
(CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER) 

14 August 2015
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Auditor General 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849 TEL: 08 6557 7500 FAX: 08 6557 7600 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF TRAINING AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 

Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development. 

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash 
Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by 
Service, and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the 
year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, including Administered transactions and balances.  

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development at 30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions.
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Training and Workforce Development 
during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

Controls exercised by the Department of Training and Workforce Development are those policies 
and procedures established by the Director General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions. 

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Department of Training and Workforce Development based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Department complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Training and Workforce Development 
are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 

Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to 
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development for the year ended 30 June 2015 included 
on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of 
the Department’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance 
indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard 
copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the 
information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators. 

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
21 August 2015



2014–15 Annual Report 63 

Statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2015

$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES Note

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6  59 443             52 996            

Supplies and services 7  30 336             35 879            

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8  1 803               1 113              

Finance costs 9 -                         1                    

Accommodation expenses  6 019               5 284              

Grants and subsidies 10  549 290           622 310          

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 15   6                      1                    

Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories   4                    -                       

Other expenses 11  24 525             13 602            

Total cost of services  671 426        731 186       

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 12  49 908             37 184            

Commonwealth grants and contributions 13  200 695           189 612          

Interest revenue  1 722               1 756              

Other revenue 14  2 559               10 358            

Total revenue  254 884        238 910       

Gains
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock   100                  98                  

Total gains   100               98               

Total income other than income from State Government  254 984        239 008       

NET COST OF SERVICES  416 442        492 178       

Income from State Government 16
Service appropriation  439 711           473 876          

Services received free of charge  1 642               1 860              

Royalties for Regions Fund  4 356               31 276            

Total income from State Government  445 709        507 012       
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  29 267          14 834         

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus   157                  827                

Total other comprehensive income   157               827             

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  29 424          15 661         

See also the Schedule of income and expenses by service.

The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2015 2014
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Statement of financial position

$000 $000

ASSETS Note
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 30  41 041                16 528               

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17, 30  73 740                71 801               

Inventories 18   12                       16                     

Receivables 19  11 203                18 776               
Total current assets  125 996           107 121          

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17, 30 -                           2 044                 

Biological assets 20   240                     140                   

Amounts receivable for services 21  35 810                34 603               

Property, plant and equipment 22  77 316                87 817               

Intangible assets 24  3 798                 -                          
Total non-current assets  117 164           124 604          

TOTAL ASSETS  243 160           231 725          

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 26  16 679                12 677               

Provisions 27  9 686                  8 867                 

Other current liabilities 28  19 309                20 286               
Total current liabilities  45 674             41 830            

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 27  2 915                  2 234                 
Total non-current liabilities  2 915               2 234              

TOTAL LIABILITIES  48 589             44 064            

NET ASSETS  194 571           187 661          

EQUITY 29

Contributed equity  94 224                116 738             

Asset revaluation reserve   984                     827                   

Accumulated surplus  99 363                70 096               
TOTAL EQUITY  194 571           187 661          

See also the Schedule of assets and liabilities by service.

The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As at 30 June 2015 2015 2014
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Statement of changes in equity
Contributed 

equity Reserves Accumulated 
surplus

Total 
equity

$000 $000 $000 $000

Note
Balance at 1 July 2013 29  119 855          -                       55 262              175 117         

Surplus -                       -                       14 834              14 834           

Other comprehensive income -                         827               -                         827               

Total comprehensive income for the period -                      827              14 834           15 661         

Capital appropriations  6 588              -                      -                        6 588             

Royalties for Regions capital funding  40 639            -                      -                        40 639           

Other contributions by owners   900                -                      -                         900               

Distributions to owners  (51 244) -                      -                        (51 244)

Total  (3 117) -                    -                      (3 117)

Balance at 30 June 2014  116 738         827              70 096           187 661       

Balance at 1 July 2014  116 738            827                70 096              187 661         

Surplus -                       -                       29 267              29 267           

Other comprehensive income -                         157               -                         157               

Total comprehensive income for the period -                      157              29 267           29 424         

Capital appropriations  1 474              -                      -                        1 474             

Royalties for Regions capital funding  30 033            -                      -                        30 033           

Contribution of capital funding from other sources  1 358              -                      -                        1 358             

Other contributions by owners   25                  -                      -                         25                 

Distribution to owners  (55 404) -                      -                        (55 404)

Total  (22 514) -                    -                      (22 514)

Balance at 30 June 2015  94 224           984              99 363           194 571       

For the year ended 30 June 2015

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:
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Statement of cash flows

$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT Note
Service appropriation  438 504          472 682         

Capital appropriation  1 474              6 588             

Royalties for Regions Fund  34 389            71 915           

Contribution of capital funding from other sources  1 358             -                      
Net cash provided by State Government  475 725       551 185      

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (54 730)  (54 815)

Supplies and services and other expenses  (57 407)  (49 176)

Grants and subsidies  (550 717)  (622 235)

GST payments on purchases  (21 050)  (24 125)

Receipts

User charges and fees  50 125            38 836           

Commonwealth grants and contributions  205 271          182 984         

Interest received  1 728              1 772             

GST receipts on sales  1 105               878               

GST receipts from taxation authority  19 148            25 023           

Other receipts  5 539              6 657             
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 30  (400 988)  (494 201)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (50 329)  (59 873)

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities  (50 329)  (59 873)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Payment of finance lease liabilities -                       (1)
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities -                    (1)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  24 408            (2 890)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  90 373            93 263           

30  114 781       90 373        

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2014For the year ended 30 June 2015

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

2015
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Schedule of income and expense by service

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Employee benefits expense  41 860              38 078               17 583                14 918                  59 443               52 996              

Supplies and services  21 363              25 779               8 973                  10 100                  30 336               35 879              

Depreciation and amortisation expense  1 270                 800                    533                     313                      1 803                 1 113                

Finance costs -                         1                      -                          -                            -                           1                      

Accommodation expenses  4 239                3 797                 1 780                  1 487                    6 019                 5 284                

Grants and subsidies  386 810            447 130             162 480              175 180                549 290             622 310            

Loss on disposal of non-current assets   4                       1                        2                       -                              6                        1                      

Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories   3                     -                          1                       -                              4                      -                         

Other expenses  17 271              9 773                 7 254                  3 829                    24 525               13 602              

 472 820         525 359          198 606           205 827             671 426           731 186          

User charges and fees  48 016              36 899               1 892                   285                      49 908               37 184              

Commonwealth grants and contributions  141 329            136 236             59 366                53 376                  200 695             189 612            

Interest revenue  1 213                1 262                  509                     494                      1 722                 1 756                

Other revenue  1 802                7 442                  757                    2 916                    2 559                 10 358              

Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock   70                     70                      30                       28                         100                    98                    

 192 430         181 909          62 554             57 099               254 984           239 008          

 280 390         343 450          136 052           148 728             416 442           492 178          

Service appropriation  309 644            340 480             130 067              133 396                439 711             473 876            

Services received free of charge  1 156                1 336                  486                     524                      1 642                 1 860                

Royalties for Regions Fund  3 067                22 472               1 289                  8 804                    4 356                 31 276              

 313 867         364 288          131 842           142 724             445 709           507 012          

 33 477           20 838            (4 210)  (6 004)  29 267             14 834            

The Schedule of income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the year ended 30 June 2015
Total

Total cost of services

Income

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Institution based training Employment based training

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

Total income other than income from State Government

NET COST OF SERVICES

Income from State Government

Total income from State Government
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Schedule of assets and liabilities by service

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets  88 726               76 966               37 270                  30 155                 125 996             107 121            

Non-current assets  82 507               89 528               34 657                  35 076                 117 164             124 604            

 171 233          166 494          71 927               65 231               243 160          231 725         

Current liabilities  32 164               30 055               13 510                  11 775                 45 674               41 830              

Non-current liabilities  2 053                 1 605                  862                       629                     2 915                 2 234                

 34 217            31 660            14 372               12 404               48 589            44 064           

 137 016          134 834          57 555               52 827               194 571          187 661         

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

NET ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Total

ASSETS

Institution Based Training Employment Based Training

TOTAL LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2015
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations and income estimates
2015 2015 2015 2014

 Estimate  Actual  Variance  Actual  Actual  Variance 
 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

Item 14 Net amount appropriated to deliver services  421 120            436 721            15 601              436 721            470 891            (34 170)

Amount authorised by other statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  2 990                2 990               -                        2 990                2 985                 5                     

 424 110         439 711         15 601           439 711         473 876         (34 165)

Item 119 Capital appropriations   720                  1 474                 754                  1 474                6 588                (5 114)

  720               1 474              754               1 474             6 588             (5 114)

 424 830         441 185         16 355           441 185         480 464         (39 279)

Institution based training  511 171            472 820            (38 351)  472 820            525 359            (52 539)

Employment based training  174 792            198 606            23 814              198 606            205 827            (7 221)

Total cost of services  685 963            671 426            (14 537)  671 426            731 186            (59 760)

Less  Total income  260 789            254 984            (5 805)  254 984            239 008            15 976             

Net cost of services  425 174         416 442         (8 732)  416 442         492 178         (75 736)
 425 174         416 442         (8 732)  416 442         492 178         (75 736)

Purchase of non-current physical assets  47 624              50 329              2 705                50 329              59 873              (9 544)

 47 624           50 329           2 705             50 329           59 873           (9 544)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 35 'Explanatory statement', provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2015 and between the actual results for 2015 and 2014.

For the year ended 30 June 2015

Delivery of services

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

Capital appropriations

Capital expenditure

Total capital

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

Capital

GRAND TOTAL

Details of expenses by service
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Mission

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' includes Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention,
except for land and buildings which have been measured at fair value. 

(b)  Basis of preparation

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(a)  General statement

The Department of Training and Workforce Development is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations
supplemented by funding received from the Australian Government.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements . In accordance with a partial exemption from
TI 1101 approved by the Under Treasurer, the Department has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures for Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities .

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Training and Workforce Development which includes Muresk Institute.
The Training Business Centre was transferred to the Department on 1 July 2014 from the Department of Education.

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative
dates.

Early adoption of Standards

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with
the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout
all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The Department of Training and Workforce Development's mission is to work to build the Western Australian workforce
to meet the State's economic and community needs.

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made
in the process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

General

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c)  Reporting entity

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($000).
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Services

(e)  Income

Revenue recognition

         Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and

         proceeds from fees and charges;

Service 2: Employment based training

Sale of goods

User charges and fees
Revenue is recognised when fees and charges are due.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

         sale of goods;

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control
of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2014-15 Budget Statements, the Department
retained $279 million in 2015 ($257 million in 2014) from the following:

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised
for the major business activities as follows:

The Department provides the following services:

Employment Based Training (EBT) is a combination of practical experience at work with structured learning. Apprentices
enter into a formal training contract with an employer which leads to a national qualification and recognition as a
tradesperson. Traineeships provide employment and structured training over a period of a year or more, and lead to
nationally recognised qualifications, generally in non-trade areas.

The transfer of net assets to / from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements,
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

Interest

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of
the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the
bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Net appropriation determination

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

         other departmental revenue.

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions,
usually when cash is received.

Service appropriations

(d)  Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI
955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to
contributed equity.

Service 1: Institution based training

Institution Based Training (IBT) is any training delivered outside of an apprenticeship or a traineeship. Training can
include a combination of e-learning and attendance at a training institution.
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For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of
acquisition.

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis
to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgment by the valuer is required where the evidence
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current
market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference
to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Subsequent measurement

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

Asset revaluation surplus

Derecognition

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation

Gains

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control
over the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s
bank account.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.  

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Initial recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5 000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5 000 are
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of
similar items which are significant in total). 

Capitalisation / expensing of assets

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair
value at the end of the reporting period.

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as
described in note 22 'Property, plant and equipment'.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This 
normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the
depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost
basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted
use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use
land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings
and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 



2014–15 Annual Report 73 

Buildings    40 years
Plant and equipment       8 years
Office equipment       5-10 years
Communication equipment   5 years
Computer equipment       3-5 years
Furniture and fittings    10 years
Motor Vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements 7 years

Land is not depreciated. 

Capitalisation / expensing of assets

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assets are:
Computer software(a) 3-5 years
Computer licences 7-10 years
Internally developed software 3-5 years

Licences

Development costs

Computer software

Website costs

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

The Department owns works of art, which are anticipated to have long and indeterminate useful lives. Their service
potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation
has been recognised.

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is
not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5 000 is
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of
an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the
planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs
incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can
be reliably measured, are capitalised.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when
the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed 
$50 000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the valuation model is used for the measurement of works of art. The
Department has a policy of revaluing artworks at fair value and is carried out every 3-5 years. The revaluation of the
Department's art works was last undertaken in 2013 by an independent valuer - Japingka Indigenous Fine Art Gallery.

(g)  Intangible assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $1 000 000 or
more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below
these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives
for each class of depreciable asset are:

Subsequent measurement

All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Amortisation is
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line
basis.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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(h)  Impairment of assets

(i)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of
material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable
amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

         Payables

         Restricted cash and cash equivalents
         Cash and cash equivalents

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written
down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the
Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

         Finance lease liabilities

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the Government. The Department of Lands (DoL) is the only
agency with the power to sell Crown land. The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DoL
when the land becomes available for sale.

(j) Leases

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

         Receivables; and

Financial assets

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

         Receivables

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated,
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation / amortisation reflects the level of consumption or
expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Financial liabilities

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instruments:

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and
liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under
lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum
lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability,
according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office buildings and motor vehicles.
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits
derived from the leased properties.

         Other liabilities

(k)  Financial instruments

         Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

         Amounts receivable for services
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(l)  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent)
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Biological assets comprising of livestock are valued at fair value less estimated point of sale costs and costs necessary
to get them to market. A gain or loss on valuation is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. See note 20
‘Biological assets’.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most
appropriate for each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are measured
at net realisable value.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(n)  Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

(m) Accrued salaries

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(p)  Biological assets

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to
apply at the time of settlement.

(o) Inventories

Accrued salaries (see note 26 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year.
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding
requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there
is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

Annual leave

(s) Provisions

(q)  Receivables

Payables are recognised at the amount payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a
result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally
within 30 days.

Provisions – employee benefits

(r)  Payables

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
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The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer
for the employer’s share.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The
related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'.

Provisions – other

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are
assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to
the GESB.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee
departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of
service.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee
departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since
1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members
since 1995.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Employment on-costs

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is
a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by
the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for
membership in particular schemes for public sector employee vary according to commencement and implementation
dates.

Superannuation

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012,
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation
fund provider. The Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 . Contributions
to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Department's liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Superannuation expenses is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises
of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation
funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by
the GESB.

(t)  Superannuation expense

The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these
leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

(u)  Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Department evaluates
these judgements regularly.

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current
financial year.

Long service leave

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if 
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably 
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Operating lease commitments

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Impairment of intangible assets are assessed at the end of each reporting period. The impact of impairment of intangible
assets is minimal. Where there is an indication of impairment (such as falling replacement costs), the recoverable
amount (depreciated replacement cost) of the intangible asset is estimated.

(v)  Comparative figures

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these
estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.



2014–15 Annual Report 78 

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Int 21

AASB 10

AASB 11

AASB 12

AASB 127

AASB 128

AASB 1031

AASB 1055

AASB 2011-7

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of
not-for-profit entities within the General Government Sector. The Department will be required to
disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances between actual and
budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint
Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139,
1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

There is no financial impact for the Department as the new standard continues to require the
recognition of the Department’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the unincorporated joint
operation.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Department as it does not hold
investments in associates and joint ventures.

Levies

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy
imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact for the Department at reporting date.

Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to
accounting treatments.

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Model Department as it does not
impact accounting for related bodies and the Department has no interests in other entities.

Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures , introduces
new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the
actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements , AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB
131 Interests in Joint Ventures . There is no financial impact.

Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements removing the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining
accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate financial statements. There is
no financial impact.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates , introducing a number of
clarifications for the accounting treatments of changed ownership interest.

Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality
not available in IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements.
There is no financial impact.

Budgetary Reporting

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on the Department.

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
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AASB 2012-3

AASB 2013-3

AASB 2013-4

AASB 2013-8

AASB 2013-9

AASB 2014-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial
Instruments

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11,
AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures . There is no financial impact for the Department.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-
Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in
applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to
net settlement. There is no financial impact.

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative,
which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central
counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The Department does not enter into derivatives
or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a not-
for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s
relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact results from the
adoption of the amended AASB 10.

Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Department contributes to schemes that are
either defined contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution plans.

Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031 Materiality
from a number of Accounting Standards.

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of
references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has
no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

Voluntary changes in accounting policy

There have been no changes in accounting policy in the 2014-15 Financial Statements.

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no
financial impact for the Department.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities [AASB 132]
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Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement , 
introducing a number of changes to accounting
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is
currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards . 
The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the
Department shall apply to report useful information
to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1,
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127,
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int
2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments
to other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in
December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard
has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB
2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has
not yet determined the application or the potential
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements . Consequently, the Department has not
applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the
Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their
application date.
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Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -
Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial
Instruments.

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the
application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The
application date was subsequently deferred to 1
January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Department
has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to
AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the
Department to determine the application or
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Department establishes Joint Operations in
pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely
acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore,
there is no financial impact on application of the
Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial
impact for the Department as depreciation and
amortisation is not determined by reference to
revenue generation, but by reference to
consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
(including Interpretations) arising from the
issuance of AASB 15. The Department has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017
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Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
(including Interpretations) arising from the
issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The
Department has not yet determined the application
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) –
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 &
2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9
Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB
9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising
from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial
Instruments in December 2014. The Department
has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
[AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and
consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128,
to allow entities to use the equity method of
accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in their separate financial
statements. The Department has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB
10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to
address an inconsistency between the
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128
(August 2011), in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The Department has not
yet determined the application or the potential
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on / after

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7,
11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of
International Financial Reporting Standard Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in
September 2014, and editorial corrections. The
Department has not yet determined the application
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101
[AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide
clarification regarding the disclosure requirements
in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes
narrow-focus amendments to address some of the
concerns expressed about existing presentation
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities
are able to use judgement when applying a
Standard in determining what information to
disclose in their financial statements. There is no
financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031
Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of
references to AASB 1031 in all Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing
that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is
no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-
Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 &
1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124
to include application by not-for-profit public sector
entities. Implementation guidance is included to
assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit
public sector entities. The Department has not yet
determined the application of the Standard, though
there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016

There have been no changes in accounting estimates in the 2014-15 Financial Statements.
Changes in accounting estimates
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 6. Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries(a)  50 858              43 736             

Voluntary severance scheme payments  3 527                5 026               

Superannuation - defined contribution plans(b)  5 058                4 234               

 59 443           52 996          

(b)

Note 7. Supplies and services

Commissions  3 030                2 348               

Communications  4 209                4 949               

Consultants and contractors  13 831              18 072             

Electricity and water expenses   689                   729                 

Minor equipment purchases  2 777                2 268               

Operating leases   712                   903                 

Other staffing costs   283                   462                 

Other  2 750                3 719               

Services received free of charge from other government agencies  1 642                1 860               

Travel   413                   569                 

 30 336           35 879          

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings   744                   723                 

Leasehold improvements   6                     -                       

Plant and equipment   70                     66                   

Motor vehicles   29                     4                     

Computers   899                   270                 

Office equipment   48                     48                   

Furniture and fittings   3                       2                     

Total depreciation  1 799             1 113            

Amortisation
Computer Software   4                     -                     
Total amortisation   4                  -                     
Total depreciation and amortisation  1 803             1 113            

Note 9. Finance costs

Finance lease charges -                         1                     

-                       1                  

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave
entitlements including superannuation contribution component.
Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds.

(a)

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 11 'Other
expenses'. 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 10. Grants and subsidies

 416 342            478 436           
Private training providers  123 493            114 029           

Capital grants(a) 

 1 719                1 626               
Other grants  7 736                28 219             

 549 290         622 310        

Note 11. Other expenses

Repairs, maintenance and minor works  1 173                1 281               

Employment on-costs   808                   672                 

Voluntary severance scheme payments to State Training Providers  20 635              10 115             

Doubtful debts expense -                         599                 

VET FEE HELP Assistance scheme  1 909                 935                 

 24 525           13 602          

Note 12. User charges and fees

Overseas student course fees(a)  43 512              36 171             

Other fees and charges   966                  1 013               

Fee for Service  5 430               -                       

 49 908           37 184          

(a) Education and Training International

This expenditure item reflects grants, subsidies and contract service payments for the delivery of training and
employment initiatives made by the Department to private training providers and the autonomous state training
providers.

Capital grants are moneys granted to public sector and private providers and capital works expenditure incurred by
the Department on behalf of the autonomous public sector providers.

State Training Providers and Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts

State Training Providers and Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts

(a)

Contracts and agreements for the delivery of training and employment services by:
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 13. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Commonwealth grants  200 695            189 612           

 200 695         189 612        

Undischarged grants

COAG National Partnership Program  2 481                6 202               

COPE   424                   721                 

Special projects - other   230                   267                 

 3 135             7 190            

Note 14. Other revenue

Recoveries and refunds   13                    6 135               

Sale of goods and services  1 292                2 257               

Rental premises   347                   414                 

Other miscellaneous revenue   406                   655                 

Commissions   428                   897                 

Impairment losses reversed during the period   73                   -                       

 2 559             10 358          

Note 15. Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles -                       -                       

-                     -                     

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles   6                       1                     

  6                    1                  
Net gain / (loss)  (6)  (1)

The Department receives certain Commonwealth grants on the condition that the monies shall be expended in a
particular manner. Grants of this nature which are yet to be fully spent as at the balance sheet date do not constitute
a liability and are detailed below:
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 16. Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a)  439 711  473 876 

 439 711  473 876

 1 161  1 233 

  365   324

  85   114

Department of Finance 
Department of Education 
State Solicitor's Office 
Landgate   31   189

 1 642  1 860

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Fund(b)  3 256  5 626 

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund(b)  1 100  25 650 

 4 356  31 276

 445 709  507 012

(b)

Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies 
during the period:

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to
projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(a)
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
 3 135                7 190              

Training interest bearing account(b)  64 392              59 770            

Muresk interest bearing account  1 761                 760                

Royalties for Regions Fund(c)  2 408                4 081              

Accrued salaries suspense account(d)  2 044               -                       

 73 740           71 801          

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account(d) -                        2 044              

-                      2 044            

(c)

Note 18. Inventories

Current
Inventories not held for resale   12                     16                  

  12                  16                

Note 19. Receivables

Current
Receivables  5 631                9 268              

Allowance for impairment of receivables  (259)  (674)

Accrued revenue  2 461                7 137              

GST receivable  2 429                2 029              

Prepayments   941                  1 016              

Total current  11 203           18 776          

Balance at start of period   674                   878                

Doubtful debts expense -                         599                

Amounts written off during the period  (342)  (803)

Impairment losses reversed during the period  (73) -                       

Balance at end of the year   259                674              

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables:

Unexpended Commonwealth grants(a) (see note 13 )

The amounts relate to unexpended Commonwealth grants which stipulate that the monies shall be expended
in a particular manner.
The amounts held in the Training interest bearing account is only to be used for the purposes as determined
by the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 . 

Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs
every 11th year.

(a)

(b)

(d)
Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 20. Biological assets

Livestock   240                   140                 

  240                140              

Note 21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding account)

Non-current  35 810              34 603             

 35 810           34 603          

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset
replacement or payment of leave liability.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 22. Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value(a)  12 160                 12 160             

Accumulated impairment losses -                          -                        

 12 160             12 160          
Buildings
At fair value(a)  27 423                 28 010             

Accumulated depreciation -                          -                        

 27 423             28 010          
Leasehold Improvements
At cost   476                    -                        

Accumulated amortisation  (6) -                        

  470                -                     
Plant and equipment
At cost   390                      366                 

Accumulated depreciation  (172)  (102)

  218                  264              
Motor vehicles
At cost   159                      118                 

Accumulated depreciation  (33)  (4)

  126                  114              
Computers 
At cost  3 718                   3 205               

Accumulated depreciation  (1 906)  (1 006)

 1 812               2 199            
Office equipment
At cost   359                      322                 

Accumulated depreciation  (240)  (207)

  119                  115              
Artwork
At fair value   111                      111                 

Accumulated impairment losses -                          -                        

  111                  111              
Miscellaneous assets
At cost   33                        51                   

Accumulated depreciation  (7)  (22)

  26                    29                
Capital works in progress
At cost  34 851                 44 815             

 34 851             44 815          
Total property, plant and equipment  77 316             87 817          

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 23.

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30
June 2015. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $12
160 000 (2014: $12 160 000) and buildings: $27 423 160 (2014: $28 010 260). For the remaining balance, fair
value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was
determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use
land).

(a)
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2015 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Carrying amount at start of period  12 160     28 010     -                            264             114       2 199             115             111         29              44 815      87 817    
Additions -               -                -                            24               47          512               27             -              -                   42 365      42 975    
Disposals -               -                -                          -                   (6) -                   -                  -              -                  -                 (6)
Transfers to / from works in progress -               -                  476                   -                  -             -                   -                  -              -                   (476) -              
Revaluation increments / (decrements) -                 157         -                          -                  -             -                   -                  -              -                  -                 157         
Depreciation -                (744)  (6)  (70)  (29)  (899)  (48) -               (3) -                 (1 799)

Transfers / Adjustments(a) -               -                -                          -                  -             -                     25             -              -                   (51 853)  (51 828)

Carrying amount at end of the period  12 160   27 423     470                  218           126     1 812          119           111       26            34 851    77 316  

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Carrying amount at start of period  11 260     27 906     -                            309           -               135               141             111         4                39 305      79 171    
Additions   900        -                -                            21               118       1 542             23             -                27              53 968      56 599    
Disposals -               -                -                          -                  -             -                    (1) -              -                  -                 (1)
Transfers to / from works in progress -               -                -                          -                  -               792             -                  -              -                   (792) -              
Revaluation increments / (decrements) -                 827         -                          -                  -             -                   -                  -              -                  -                  827        
Depreciation -                (723) -                           (66)  (4)  (270)  (48) -               (2) -                 (1 113)

Transfers / Adjustments(a) -               -                -                          -                  -             -                   -                  -              -                   (47 666)  (47 666)

Carrying amount at end of the period  12 160   28 010   -                         264           114     2 199          115           111       29            44 815    87 817  

(a)

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 23.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.
Plant & 

equipment
Computers

 Miscellan-
eous 

assets 

Office 
equipment

Buildings

 Land 

Motor 
vehicle

Office 
equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements

Leasehold 
Improvements

Computers

Capital 
works in 
progress

Buildings

The Department carries out capital works projects on behalf of the State Training Providers. Upon completion of construction, these assets are transferred out to State
Training Providers as distributions to owners.

Land

 Total Capital 
works in 
progress

Artwork TotalMiscellan-
eous 

assets

Artwork Plant & 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicle



2014–15 Annual Report 92 

Note 23. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value at 
end of period

2015 $000 $000 $000 $000
Biological assets (Note 20)   240                  -                         -                           240                  

Land (Note 22) -                         -                          12 160               12 160              

Buildings (Note 22) -                         -                          27 423               27 423              

  240               -                       39 583            39 823           

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value at 
end of period

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000
Biological assets (Note 20)   140                  -                         -                           140                  

Land (Note 22) -                         -                          12 160               12 160              

Buildings (Note 22) -                         -                          28 010               28 010              

  140               -                       40 170            40 310           

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
2015

Land Buildings
$000 $000

Fair value at start of period  12 160               28 010              
Additions -                         -                         

-                           157                  

Depreciation expense -                          (744)

Fair value at end of period  12 160            27 423           

2014
Land Buildings
$000 $000

Fair value at start of period  11 260               27 906              
Additions   900                  -                         

-                           827                  

Depreciation expense -                          (723)

Fair value at end of period  12 160            28 010           

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Other 
comprehensive income

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Other 
comprehensive income
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Valuation processes

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Land  12 160                     12 160                    Current Use Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

 27 423                     28 010                    Depreciated Replacement 
Cost

Consumed economic benefit/ 
obsolescence of asset

Historical cost per square metre 
floor area (m2)

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets
are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that
restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to
requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community
service.

Buildings

Description Fair value
2015
$000

Fair value
2014
$000

Valuation Technique (s) Unobservable inputs

Basis of Valuation

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 22.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as
Treasurer's Instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations
will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost
is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to
reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of
the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost
of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable
land that is unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted
use land), or comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and evaluated as follows:

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility.
Relevant comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services).

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m 2 )
The costs of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility are extracted from financial records of the
Department, then indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Selection of land with restricted utility
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 24. Intangible assets

Computer software
At cost   91                     -                       

Accumulated amortisation  (4) -                       

  87                  -                     

Work in progress (internally developed software)

At cost  3 711                 -                 

 3 711              -                     

 3 798              -                     
Reconciliations

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period -                          -                       

Additions   91                     -                       

Amortisation Expense  (4) -                       

Carrying amount at end of period   87                  -                     

Internally developed software - in progress
Carrying amount at start of period -                          -                       

Additions  3 711                 -                       

Amortisation Expense -                          -                       

Carrying amount at end of period  3 711              -                     
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Note 25. Impairment of assets

Note 26. Payables

Current
Trade payables  1 007                  1 030               

Accrued expenses  11 164                10 411             

Accrued salaries  4 508                  1 236               

Total current  16 679             12 677          

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2015.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the 
end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2015 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 27. Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a)  3 018                2 870               

Long service leave(b)  6 551                5 868               

 9 569             8 738            

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)   117                   129                 

  117                129              

 9 686             8 867            

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b)  2 880                2 202               

 2 880             2 202            

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)   35                     32                   

  35                  32                

 2 915             2 234            

(a)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  2 369                2 232               

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period   649                   638                 

 3 018             2 870            

(b)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  2 490                2 301               

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  6 941                5 768               

 9 431             8 070            

(c)

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 11 ‘Other
expenses’.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Movements in other provisions

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period   161                  41                  
Additional / (reversals of) provisions recognised  (9)   120                
Payments / other sacrifices of economic benefits -                       -                       

Carrying amount at end of period   152                161              

Note 28. Other liabilities

Current
Income received in advance               17 993               17 979 

Other                 1 316                 2 307 

Total current  19 309           20 286          

Note 29. Equity

Balance at the start of period  116 738           119 855          

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation                 1 474  6 588              

Royalties for Regions capital funding  30 033             40 639            

Contribution of capital funding from other sources  1 358              -                       

Transfer of net assets from other agencies   25                    900                

Total contributions by owners  32 890           48 127          

Distribution to owners
Transfer of completed capital works projects to State Training Providers  (51 853)  (45 457)

Transfers related to capital works projects to State Training Providers  (3 551)  (5 787)

Total distributions to owners  (55 404)  (51 244)

Balance at end of period  94 224           116 738        

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at the start of period   827                -                       
Net revaluation increments / (decrements)

Buildings   157                  827                

Balance at end of period   984                827              

Accumulated surplus / (deficit)

Balance at the start of period  70 096             55 262            

Result for the period  29 267             14 834            

Balance at end of period  99 363           70 096          

Total equity at end of period  194 571         187 661        

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that
portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity

Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee benefits, are set out below.
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 30. Notes to the statement of cash flows

Reconciliation of cash 

Cash and cash equivalents  41 041              16 528             

 73 740              73 845             

 114 781         90 373          

Net cost of services  (416 442)  (492 178)

Non-cash items

 1 803                1 113               

Doubtful debts expense (note 19 'Receivables')  (415)   599                 

 1 642                1 860               

 6                       1                      

Transfer of prior year capital expenditure -                         597                 

Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets  (99)  (98)

Loss from changes in net realisable value of biological assets  13                      28                   

Loss from changes in net realisable value of inventories  4                      -                       

Adjustments for other non-cash items  94                      67                   

(Increase) / decrease in assets
Current receivables(a)  8 389  (11 974)

Non-current biological assets  (108)  (9)

Current inventories not held for resale -                       -                       

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities 
Current payables(a)  4 002  4 963               

Other current liabilities  (977)  2 544               

Current provisions   819  (1 979)

Non-current provisions   681                   39                   

Net GST receipts / (payments)(b)   797                  1 776               

Change in GST in receivables / payables(c)  (1 197)  (1 550)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities  (400 988)  (494 201)

(a)

(b) This is the net GST paid / received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in
the Statement of financial position as follows:

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 17 'Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents')

Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable / payable in respect of GST and the receivable /
payable in respect of the sale / purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not
form part of the reconciling items.

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation and amortisation 
expense’)

Net (gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 15 ‘Net gain / 
(loss) on disposal of non-current assets')

Services received free of charge (note 16 ‘Income from State Government’)



2014–15 Annual Report 99 

2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 31. Services provided free of charge

Department of Education Services   123                   116                 

  123                116              

Central Institute of Technology  3 059               1 653                

Challenger Institute of Technology  2 077               1 433                

C. Y. O’Connor Institute   549                 430                   

Durack Institute of Technology   797                 473                   

Great Southern Institute of Technology  1 721               746                   

Goldfields Institute of Technology   603                 352                   

Kimberley Training Institute   886                  1 120               

Pilbara Institute  2 318                1 049               

Polytechnic West  2 993               1 767                

South West Institute of Technology   948                 657                   

WA Academy of Performing Arts (Edith Cowan University)   12                   8                       

West Coast Institute of Training  1 203                 578                 

 17 166           10 266          

Note 32. Commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  5 903                6 107               

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  33 273              21 099             

Later than 5 years  26 375              36 528             

 65 551           63 734          

The commitments below are inclusive of GST.

Capital expenditure commitments 

Within 1 year  67 957              52 639             
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  83 938              125 057           
Later than 5 years -                       -                       

 151 895         177 696        

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the
normal operations of the Department: 

The estimated value of services provided to the following State Training Providers and Western Australian Academy
of Performing Arts is: 

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a thirteen year term, with
rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum
lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the lease at the
end of the thirteen year term for two options of three years.

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
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Note 33. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Note 34. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

During 2014-15, the Department did not identify any contingent liabilities or contingent assets.

No events have occurred after reporting date, which would cause the financial statements to be misleading in the
absence of disclosure.
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Note 35. Explanatory statement

Statement of comprehensive income Variance
Original 
Budget Actual Actual

(Controlled operations) Note 2015 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense A  61 176        59 443        52 996        (1 733)  6 447         

Supplies and services B  32 377        30 336        35 879        (2 041)  (5 543)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,C  1 207          1 803          1 113           596            690           

Finance costs D -                  -                    1               -                  (1)

Accommodation expenses E  6 245          6 019          5 284          (226)   735           

Grants and subsidies 2,F  582 105      549 290      622 310      (32 815)  (73 020)

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 3,G -                    6                 1                 6                5               
Loss arising from changes in net realisable 
value - inventories 4,H -                    4               -                    4                4               

Other expenses 5,I  2 853          24 525        13 602        21 672       10 923       

Total cost of services  685 963    671 426    731 186    (14 537)  ( 59 760)

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees J  51 912        49 908        37 184        (2 004)  12 724       

Commonwealth grants and contributions K  201 942      200 695      189 612      (1 247)  11 083       

Interest revenue 6  1 408          1 722          1 756           314           (34)

Other revenue 7,L  5 527          2 559          10 358        (2 968)  (7 799)

Total revenue  260 789    254 884    238 910    (5 905)  15 974     

Gains
Gain arising from changes in fair value - 
livestock 8 -                    100             98               100            2               

Total gains -                  100           98             100          2             

 260 789    254 984    239 008    (5 805)  15 976     

NET COST OF SERVICES  425 174    416 442    492 178    (8 732)  (75 736)

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 9,M  424 110      439 711      473 876      15 601       (34 165)
Services received free of charge 10,N   294            1 642          1 860          1 348         (218)
Royalties for Regions Fund 11,O  12 257        4 356          31 276        (7 901)  (26 920)

Total income from State Government  436 661    445 709    507 012    9 048       (61 303)
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  11 487      29 267      14 834      17 780     14 433

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 12,P -                    157             827             157           (670)

Total other comprehensive income -                  157           827           157         (670)

 11 487      29 424      15 661      17 937     13 763     

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2015 and 
2014

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial
statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates' are shown below. Major
variances are considered to be those greater than 10% or $10 million.

Total income other than income from State 
Government

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD
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Statement of financial position Variance
Original 
Budget Actual Actual

(Controlled operations) Note 2015 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13,Q  10 012        41 041        16 528        31 029       24 513       

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14  54 108        73 740        71 801        19 632       1 939         

Inventories 15,R   16               12               16              (4)  (4)

Receivables 16,S  7 627          11 203        18 776        3 576         (7 573)
Total current assets  71 763      125 996    107 121    54 233     18 875     

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17,T  2 648         -                   2 044          (2648)  (2 044)

Biological assets 18,U   131             240             140             109            100           

Amounts receivable for services  35 810        35 810        34 603       -                  1 207         

Property, plant and equipment 19,V  195 511      77 316        87 817        (118 195)  (10 501)

Intangible assets 20,W -                   3 798         -                   3 798         3 798         
Total non-current assets  234 100    117 164    124 604    (116 936)  (7 440)

TOTAL ASSETS  305 863    243 160    231 725    (62 703)  11 435     

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 21,X  7 349          16 679        12 677        9 330         4 002         

Provisions  10 093        9 686          8 867          (407)   819           
Other current liabilities 22  16 973        19 309        20 286        2 336  (977)

Total current liabilities  34 415      45 674      41 830      11 259     3 844       

Non-current liabilities

Provisions Y  3 230          2 915          2 234          (315)   681           
Total non-current liabilities  3 230        2 915        2 234        (315)   681         

TOTAL LIABILITIES  37 645      48 589      44 064      10 944     4 525       

NET ASSETS  268 218    194 571    187 661    (73 647)  6 910       

EQUITY

Contributed equity 23,Z  189 615      94 224        116 738      (95 391)  (22 514)

Asset revaluation reserve 24,AA -                    984             827             984            157           

Accumulated surplus 25,AB  78 603        99 363        70 096        20 760       29 267       
TOTAL EQUITY  268 218    194 571    187 661    (73 647)  6 910       

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2015 and 
2014
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Statement of cash flows Variance
Original 
Budget Actual Actual

(Controlled operations) Note 2015 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 26,AC  422 903      438 504      472 682      15 601  (34 178)

Capital appropriation 27,AD   720            1 474          6 588           754  (5 114)

Royalties for Regions Fund 28,AE  43 101        34 389        71 915        (8 712)  (37 526)

Contribution of capital funding from other sources 29,AF -                   1 358         -                   1 358  1 358
Net cash provided by State Government  466 724    475 725    551 185    9 001  (75 460)

Utilised as follows:

Payments
Employee benefits 30  (62 326)  (54 730)  (54 815)  7 596   85

Supplies and services and other expenses 31,AG  (37 492)  (57 407)  (49 176)  (19 915)  (8 231)

Grants and subsidies 32,AH  (582 105)  (550 717)  (622 235)  31 388  71 518

GST payments on purchases AI  (20 821)  (21 050)  (24 125)  (229)  3 075

Receipts
User charges and fees AJ  49 148        50 125        38 836         977  11 289

Commonwealth grants and contributions AK  201 942      205 271      182 984      3 329  22 287

Interest received 33  1 408          1 728          1 772           320  (44)

GST receipts on sales 34,AL   840            1 105           878             265   227

GST receipts from taxation authority AM  19 981        19 148        25 023        (833)  (5 875)

Other receipts AN  5 416          5 539          6 657           123            (1 118)

 (424 009)  (400 988)  (494 201)  23 021  93 213    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets AO  (47 624)  (50 329)  (59 873)  (2 705)  9 544

 (47 624)  (50 329)  (59 873)  (2 705)  9 544      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Payment of finance lease liabilities AP -                  -                   (1) -                    1

-               -                (1) -                 1            

 (4 909)  24 408        (2 890)  29 317  27 298

 71 677        90 373        93 263        18 696  (2 890)

 66 768     114 781    90 373     48 013  24 408    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2015 and 
2014

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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Major Variance Narratives

Variance between estimate and actual

1) Depreciation and amortisation expense was higher than estimates by $0.6 million (49.4%) largely due to an increase in
depreciation on new computing equipment.
2) Grants and subsidies expense was lower than estimates by $32.8 million (5.6%) mainly due to lower demand for general industry
training, the conversion of funds for capital works and the impact of corrective measures.
3) Loss on disposal of non-current assets was higher by $0.006 million due to disposal of non-current assets.
4) Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories was higher by $0.004 million due to changes in the value of fodder,
fertilizer and grain at Muresk Institute.
5) Other expenses were higher than estimates by $21.7 million (759.6%) largely due to payments to State Training Providers to fund
the targeted voluntary separation scheme.
6) Interest revenue is higher than estimates by $0.3 million (22.3%) due to increased cash balances held during the year.
7) Other Revenue was lower than estimates by $3.0 million (53.7%) largely due to refunds from State Training Providers netted off
against grant expenditure.
8) Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock was higher than estimates by $0.1 million due to an increase in the valuation of
livestock.
9) Service appropriation was higher than estimates by $15.6 million (3.7%) largely due to funding received for State Training
Providers to fund the targeted voluntary separation scheme partially offset by corrective measures.
10) Services received free of charge was higher than estimates by $1.3 million (458.5%) due to an increased level of services
provided by other State agencies.
11) Royalties for Regions Fund income was lower than the estimates by $7.9 million (64.5%) largely due to amounts received for
district allowances, Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres and the conversion of funding for the Goldfields Arts Centre from
recurrent to capital. 
12) Changes in asset revaluation surplus was higher than estimates by $0.2 million due an increase in the valuation of land and
buildings.
13) Cash and cash equivalents was higher than estimates by $31.0 million (309.9%) mainly due to timing of expenditure for capital
works projects and training delivery.  
14) Restricted cash and cash equivalents was higher than estimates by $19.6m (36.3%) largely due to the timing of expenditure
associated with training delivery for international students.
15) Inventories was lower than estimates by $0.004 million (25%) mainly due to reduced stock of seeds, fertilizer and fodder.
16) Receivables was higher by $3.6 million (46.9%) largely due to amounts owing by State Training Providers for the provision of
shared services and higher international student fee debts.
17) Restricted cash and cash equivalents was lower than estimates by $2.6 million (100.0%) due to funds held in the suspense
account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay that occurs every 11th year. As the funds are payable in the next financial year they
are now recognised as a current asset.
18) Biological assets was higher than estimates by $0.1 million (83.2%) mainly due to increased purchases and a higher valuation of
livestock.
19) Property, plant and equipment was lower than estimates by $118.2 million (60.5%) due to a net transfer of assets for capital
works projects carried out on behalf of the State Training Providers.
20) Intangible assets was higher than estimates by $3.8 million due to recognition of software development costs.
21) Payables was higher than estimates by $9.3 million (127.0%) largely due to an increase in accrued salaries and accrued
expenditure.
22) Other current liabilities are higher than estimates by $2.3 million (13.8%) mainly due to international student fees received in
advance.
23) Contributed equity was lower than estimates by $95.4 million (50.3%) largely due to the transfer of assets for capital works
projects carried out on behalf of the State Training Providers.
24) Asset revaluation reserve was higher than estimates by $1.0 million due to accumulated revaluation of land and buildings.
25) Accumulated surplus was higher than estimates by $20.8 million (26.4%) mainly due to timing of expenditure and revenue for
training delivery.
26) Service appropriation was higher than estimates by $15.6 million (3.7%) largely due to funding received for State Training
Providers to fund the targeted voluntary separation scheme partially offset by corrective measures.
27) Capital appropriation is higher than estimates by $0.8 million (104.7%) due to an adjustment to the Asset Investment Program
efficiency dividend.
28) Royalties for Regions Fund income was lower than estimates by $8.7 million (20.2%) mainly due to reductions in amounts
received for district allowances, Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres and the conversion of funding for the Goldfields Arts
Centre from recurrent to capital. 
29) Contribution of capital funding from other sources was higher than estimates by $1.4 million due to contributions received from
State Training Providers for capital projects.
30) Employee benefits was lower than estimates by $7.6 million (12.2%) mainly due to staff vacancies and an increase in accrued
salaries.
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31) Supplies and services and other expenses was higher than estimates by $19.8 million (52.9%) largely due to the payments to
State Training Providers to fund the targeted voluntary separation scheme.
32) Grants and subsidies were lower than estimates by $31.4 million (5.4%) mainly due to lower demand for general industry training,
the conversion of funds for capital works and the impact of corrective measures.
33) Interest received is higher than estimates by $0.3 million (22.7%) due to increased cash balances held during the year.
34) GST receipt on sales is higher than estimates by $0.3 million (31.5%) due to increased taxable sales.
Variance between actual results for 2015 and 2014
A) Employee benefits expense increased by $6.4 million (12.2%) largely due to the State Training Provider Shared Services function
transferred from the Department of Education.
B) Supplies and Services decreased by $5.5 million (15.4%) largely due to a payment to the Department of Education for State
Training Provider Shared Services function in 2013/14 prior to the transfer to the Department.
C) Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by $0.7 million (62.0%) largely due to an increase in depreciation on new
computing equipment.
D) Finance costs decreased by $0.001 million (100.0%) due to the expiry of a finance lease in 2013/14.
E) Accommodation expenses increased by $0.7 million (13.9%) largely due to rental costs associated with the State Training Provider
Shared Services function transferred from the Department of Education.
F) Grants and subsidies expense decreased by $73.0 million (11.7%) mainly due to the payment of a one-off grant to Agricola
Residential College in 2013/14, changes in the subsidy and fee settings under Future Skills WA and lower levels for general industry
training.
G) Loss on disposal of non-current assets increased by $0.005 million (500.0%) due to disposal of non-current assets.
H) Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories increased by $0.004 million due to changes in the value of fodder,
fertilizer and grain at Muresk Institute.
I) Other expenses increased by $10.9 million (80.3%) largely due to the payment to State Training Providers to fund the targeted
voluntary separation scheme.
J) User charges and fees increased by $12.7 million (34.2%) mainly due to higher international student enrolments and contributions
from the State Training Providers for the State Training Provider Shared Services function.
K) Commonwealth grants and contributions increased by $11.1 million (5.8%) due to the flow of funding associated with
Commonwealth funded agreements.
L) Other revenue decreased by $7.8 million (75.3%) largely due to refunds from State Training Providers netted off against grant
expenditure. 
M) Service appropriation decreased by $34.2 million (7.2%) largely due to changes in the subsidy and fee settings under Future Skills
WA, lower levels of general industry training and corrective measures partially offset by funding for the targeted separation scheme
and indexation.
N) Services received free of charge decreased by $0.22 million (11.7%) mainly due to a lower level of services provided by other
State agencies.
O) Royalties for Regions Fund decreased by $26.9 million (86.1%) mainly due to one-off funding received for Agricola Residential
College and Muresk Institute in 2013/14.
P) Changes in asset revaluation surplus decreased by $0.67 million (81.0%) largely due to a lower revaluation increment of land and
buildings.
Q) Cash and cash equivalents increased by $24.5 million (148.3%) mainly due to timing of expenditure for capital works projects and
training delivery. 
R) Inventories decreased by $0.004 million (25%) mainly due to reduced stock of seeds, fertilizer and fodder.
S) Receivables decreased by $7.6 million (40.3%) largely due to a reduction in international student debts and the receipt of
Commonwealth National Partnership funding accrued at 30 June 2014.

T) Restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $2.0 million (100.0%) due to funds held in the suspense account for the
purpose of meeting the 27th pay that occurs every 11th year. As the funds are payable in the next financial year they are now
recognised as a current asset.
U) Biological assets increased by $0.1 million (71.4%) mainly due to increased purchases and a higher valuation of livestock.
V) Property, plant and equipment decreased by $10.5 million (12.0%) due to a net transfer of assets for capital works projects carried
out on behalf of the State Training Providers. 
W) Intangible assets increased by $3.8 million due to recognition of software development costs.
X) Payables increased by $4.0 million (31.6%) largely due to an increase in accrued salaries and accrued expenditure.
Y) Provisions increased by $0.7 million (30.5%) largely due to leave balances for the State Training Provider Shared Services
function transferred from the Department of Education.
Z) Contributed equity decreased by $22.5m (19.3%) largely due to the transfer of assets for capital works projects carried out on
behalf of the State Training Providers offset by the receipt of Royalties for Regions funding for capital works.
AA) Asset revaluation reserve increased by $0.2 million (19.0%) due a net revaluation increment in buildings.
AB) Accumulated surplus increased by $29.3 million (41.8%) mainly due to timing of expenditure and revenue for training delivery.
AC) Service appropriation decreased by $34.2 million (7.2%) largely due to changes in the subsidy and fee settings under Future
Skills WA, lower levels of general industry training and corrective measures partially offset by funding for the targeted separation
scheme and indexation.
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AD) Capital appropriation decreased by $5.1 million (77.6%) mainly due to progress of capital projects.
AE) Royalties for Regions Fund decreased by $37.5 million (52.2%) mainly due to one-off funding received for Agricola Residential
College and Muresk Institute in 2013/14 and progress of capital projects.
AF) Contribution of capital funding from other sources increased by $1.4 million due to contributions received from State Training
Providers for capital projects.
AG) Supplies and services and other expenses increased by $8.2 million (16.6%) largely due to the payment to State Training
Providers to fund the targeted voluntary separation scheme offset by a previous payment to the Department of Education for the
State Training Provider Shared Services function in 2013/14.
AH) Grants and subsidies expense decreased by $71.5 million (11.5%) mainly due to the payment of a one-off grant to Agricola
Residential College in 2013/14, changes in the subsidy and fee settings under Future Skills WA and lower levels for general industry
training.
AI) GST payments on purchases decreased by $3.1 million (12.7%) mainly due to a net increase in acquisitions with no GST in the
price.
AJ) User charges and fees increased by $11.3 million (29.1%) mainly due to higher international student enrolments and
contributions from the State Training Providers for the State Training Provider Shared Services function.
AK) Commonwealth grants and contributions increased by $22.3 million (12.2%) due to the flow of funding associated with
Commonwealth agreements.
AL) GST receipts on sales increased by $0.2 million (25.8%) due to net increase in taxable sales.
AM) GST receipts from taxation authority decreased by $5.9 million (23.5%) mainly due to a net increase in acquisitions with no GST
in the price.
AN) Other receipts decreased by $1.2 million (17.9%) largely due to refunds from State Training Providers and collection of
receivables.
AO) Purchase of non-current physical assets decreased by $9.5 million (15.9%) mainly due to timing of capital works projects
managed on behalf of the State Training Providers.
AP) Payment of finance lease liabilities decreased by $0.001 million (100.0%) due to an expiry of a finance lease in 2013/14.
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Note 36.  Financial instruments

(a) 

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2015 2014
$000 $000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents               41 041               16 528 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents               73 740               73 845 
Receivables(a)                 7 833               15 731 
Amounts receivable for services               35 810               34 603 

Financial liabilities
Payables               16 679               12 677 

(a) 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are:

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting
period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at
note 36(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 19 ‘Receivables’.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Department's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

Market risk

Credit risk arises when there is a possibility of the Department's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Department.  

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable data in
client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 36(c) ‘Financial instrument
disclosures’.
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(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

2015
Cash and cash equivalents  41 041              41 041              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  73 740              73 740              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

Receivables(a)  7 833                4 484                  101                137                 2 550                     547                   14                   -                     

Amounts receivable for services  35 810              35 810              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

 158 424         155 075           101              137               2 550                  547                14                -                   

2014
Cash and cash equivalents  16 528              16 528              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  73 845              73 845              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

Receivables(a)  15 731              11 530                54                 1 025               3 063                     59                   -                       -                     

Amounts receivable for services  34 603              34 603              -                     -                       -                            -                       -                       -                     

 140 707         136 506           54               1 025             3 063                  59                -                     -                   

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) .

The following table details the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not
impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department. 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Impaired 
financial 

assets

Ageing analysis of financial assets

1 - 5 yearsNot past due 
and not 

impaired

Up to 1 
month

Past due but not impaired
More than 5 

years
1-3 months 3 months to 1 

year
Carrying 
amount
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2015

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  41 041      -                  -                   41 041       41 041         41 041       -             -                  -                 -                 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.44  73 740      -                   66 153        7 587         73 740         73 740       -             -                  -                 -                 

Receivables(a)  7 833        -                  -                   7 833         7 833          -             -                  -                 -                 

Amounts receivable for services  35 810      -                  -                   35 810       35 810        -                  -             -                   35 810      -                 

 158 424  -                 66 153      92 271      158 424    114 781   -            -                 35 810    -               

Payables  16 679      -                  -                   16 679       16 679         16 679       -             -                  -                 -                 

 16 679    -                -                 16 679      16 679      16 679     -            -                -               -               

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis
section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

3 months 
to 1 year

Nominal 
amount

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

1-5 yearsUp to 1 
month

1-3 
months

Non-
interest 
bearing

Maturity dates
More than 

5 years

Interest rate exposure
Variable 
interest 

rate

Carrying 
amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate

Financial liabilities
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% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  16 528      -                  -                   16 528       16 528         16 528       -             -                  -                 -                 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.82  73 845      -                   60 530        13 315       73 845         73 845       -             -                  -                 -                 

Receivables(a)  15 731      -                  -                   15 731       15 731        -                  -             -                  -                 -                 

Amounts receivable for services  34 603      -                  -                   34 603       34 603        -                  -             -                   34 603      -                 

 140 707  -                 60 530      80 177      140 707    90 373     -            -                 34 603    -               

 12 677      -                  -                   12 677       12 677         12 677       -             -                  -                 -                 

 12 677    -                -                 12 677      12 677      12 677     -            -                -               -               

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Non-
interest 
bearing

1-3 
months

1-5 years More than 
5 years

Interest rate exposure

Payables
Financial liabilities

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate

Carrying 
amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Up to 1 
month

Variable 
interest 

rate

Maturity dates
Nominal 
amount

3 months 
to 1 year
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2015
Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a) 66 153              (662)                 (662)                 662                   662                   

Total increase / (decrease)  66 153          (662)               (662)                 662                662              

2014
Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a) 60 530              (605)                 (605)                 605                   605                   

Total increase / (decrease)  60 530          (605)               (605)                 605                605              

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is
held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Fair values

(a) The Training and Muresk interest bearing accounts are the only cash balances within restricted cash subject to interest earnings.

Carrying
Amount

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity
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Note 37. Remuneration of senior officers

Remuneration band ($) 2015 2014
140 001 - 150 000 - 1 

190 001 - 200 000  1 1 

200 001 - 210 000 - 1 

210 001 - 220 000  2 1 

220 001 - 230 000  1 1 

400 001 - 410 000  1 1 

$000 $000
Base remuneration and superannuation  1 171  1 409 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals   36  (97)

Other benefits   55   66

Total remuneration of senior officers  1 262  1 378

Note 38. Remuneration of auditor

2015 2014
$000 $000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance
indicators 150 107

  150   107

2015 2014
$000 $000
  566   500

Chamber of Minerals and Energy   566   500

  566   500

  567   500

  634   569

  701   619

Food & Timber Industries Training Council   634   581
  701   619

  567   500

  566   499

Total  6 068  5 387
Retail and Personal Services Industry Training Council

Financial, Administrative and Professional Services Training Council

Futurenow - Creative and Leisure Industries Training Council
Logistics Training Council

Electrical, Utilities and Public Administration Training Council
Engineering and Automotive Training Council

The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits
for the financial year fall within the following bands are:

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior
officers.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

Note 39. Affiliated bodies
The table below are government affiliated bodies that received grants from the Department. These Training 
Councils are not subject to operational control.

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as
follows: 

Building and Construction Industry Training Fund

Community Services, Health and Education Training Council
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2015 2014
$000 $000

Note 40. Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs

The accountable authority   349                   803                 

  349                803              

Note 41. Indian Ocean Territories

Opening balance  (2)  (10)

Receipts   220                                    231 

Payments  (219)  (223)

Closing balance  (1)  (2)

Reconciliation of Commonwealth funds received and expended for the Indian
Ocean Territories

During the financial year, $349 074.32 (2014: $802 908.67) was written off under the authority of:
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Note 42. Disclosure of administered income and expense by service

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

For transfer:                   - 

Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder 
(Subclass 457) Child School Fee  5 021        -                 -                 -                  5 021        -                 

 5 021      -               -               -                5 021      -               

Payments to the consolidated account  1 924        -                 -                 -                  1 924        -                 

 1 924      -               -               -                1 924      -               

Note 43. Explanatory statement for administered items

Variance
Original 
Budget Actual Actual

Note 2015 2015 2014
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS

For transfer
Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder 
(Subclass 457) Child School Fee 1, A  6 700         5 021        -                  (1 679)  5 021        

 6 700       5 021      -                (1 679)  5 021      

Payments to the consolidated account 2, A  6 700         1 924        -                  (4 776)  1 924        

 6 700       1 924      -                (4 776)  1 924      

NET INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS -                3 097 -                3 097  3 097

Major variance narratives (Administered items)
Variances between estimate and actual
1) The variance is due to WA school fee exceptions for 457 visa holders.

2) The variance is due to the timing of the receipt of the school fees

Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014
A) As 2014-15 is the first year for the administered items there are no comparatives for 2013-14.

Institution based 
training

Employment based 
training

Total

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS

Total administered expenses

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2015 and 
2014

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Total administered income

Income

Total administered income

Expenses

Total administered expenses

Income

Expenses
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Note 44. Administered assets and liabilities
2015 2014
$000 $000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents   128          -                 
Receivables  2 969        -                 

Total administered current assets  3 097      -               

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS  3 097      -               

Current liabilities

Amounts owing to controlled entity -                 -                 

Total administered current liabilities -               -               

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES -               -               
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ADDITIONAL KEY PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS INFORMATION 

Certification of key performance indicators 

For the year ended 30 June 2015

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess 
the Department of Training and Workforce Development’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

DR RUTH SHEAN
DIRECTOR GENERAL
(ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY)

14 August 2015



2014–15 Annual Report 117

Detailed information in support of key  
performance indicators

KPI 1: Employer satisfaction with the skills of their employees
The survey of employers’ use and views of the vocational 
education and training (VET) system, conducted in 2013, indicated 
that 78.2% of employers were satisfied with the skills of their 
employees. This figure is below the target of 87% however the 
difference is not statistically significant. Furthermore changes 
to the weighting methodology since the 2011 survey may have 
further contributed to the apparent decrease in satisfaction.

The data for this KPI are restricted to those employers that 
indicated they were employers with VET as a job requirement.

Data are only available every two years. Data are subject to 
sampling error which varies between surveys, due to changes 
in the underlying sample of respondents. The target range is the 
mean value of the statistic with a confidence interval of 95.0%.

Table 1: Employer satisfaction with the skills of their employees, 
2009–13

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Target

87.4% – 6 84.6% – 6 78.2% 87.0%

6Data are collected every two years.
Source: NCVER Survey of Employers’ Use and Views of the VET system (2009), (2011) and (2013)

KPI 2: Apprenticeship and traineeship training rate
The apprenticeship and traineeship training rate provides an 
indication of the success of the training system in providing 
vocational skills for the labour market and thus meeting the needs 
of employers and students.

In this reporting period, the apprenticeship and traineeship 
training rate was 2.9%. This is below the target of 3.2%. Economic 
conditions can influence the willingness of employers to take on 
apprentices and trainees and, therefore, impact on the training 
rate independently of the Department.

Table 2: Apprenticeship and traineeship training rate

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Target

3.0% 2.9% 3.1% 3.0% 2.9% 3.2%

Source: Training Records System, Department of Training and Workforce Development; 
Snapshot end February 2015
ABS Catalogue Number 6202.0 – Labour force
Note: Due to lags in notification and processing of contract variations and outcomes, data on the 
number of apprentices and trainees in training typically change after the reporting period. This may 
affect the training rate, and data may therefore differ from those published in previous reports.
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KPI 3: Apprenticeship and traineeship completion rates
The apprenticeship and traineeship completion rate measures  
the proportion of contracts that are completed in a given period. 
The completion rate for 2014–15 is 59.4% which is below the 
target of 60.7%. The completion rate is calculated using the cohort 
of apprentices and trainees who commenced their contract for the 
first time in 2010, including subsequent commencements in the 
same qualification or trade.

Table 3: Apprenticeship and traineeship completion rate

2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 Target

57.4% 58.7% 61.8% 60.0% 59.4% 60.7%

Source: Training Records System, Department of Training and Workforce Development
Note: Completion rate data are updated after the reporting period to capture completions not 
recorded at the time, and may therefore differ from those published in previous reports.

KPI 4: Graduate employment rate
The Department continues to perform well in the area of creating 
a highly skilled and employable workforce. The proportion of 
graduates employed after training in Western Australia was 79.2% 
in 2014, which is below the target of 82.3%.

The number of graduates taking up employment on completion 
of their studies is provided by the National Centre for Vocational 
Education Research (NCVER) from the student outcomes survey 

conducted every year. The national survey compares outcomes 
for Australian graduates overall with students who undertook 
vocational education and training (VET) with a Western Australian 
State or private training provider. A graduate is defined as a 
student awarded a qualification by a publicly funded VET provider, 
in the survey reference year.

The 2014 reported result has a confidence interval of +2.0% at the 
95% confidence level.

Table 4: Graduate employment on completion of their  
studies, 2010–14

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Target

80.1% 80.7% 82.2% 81.4% 79.2% 82.3%

Source: NCVER, (2010), (2011), (2012), (2013), (2014) Student outcomes survey

Note: NCVER previously reported the graduate employment rate for 2011 as 80.4%.  
This was revised in subsequent publications.
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Table 5: Cost per student curriculum hour (a) (b) (c), 2014–15

2011 2012 2013 2014 Target 2014–15

IBT $19.75 $18.73 $19.35 $19.11 $18.82

EBT $20.06 $19.15 $19.35 $19.11 $16.43

Source: Finance, VET Enrolment Data Collection
Notes:
(a) No adjustments for inflation have been incorporated into the above figures.
(b) National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development scope.
(c) Both the total expenditure and total SCH are based on calendar year data.

Vocational education and training services
Service description: The strategic management of the 
investment of government resources in the State vocational 
education and training (VET) system, including the planning, 
purchasing and monitoring of VET services. The objective of 
the Department is to identify and meet industry, regional and 
community training needs and priorities.

Efficiency indicator: Cost per student curriculum hour (SCH).

Student curriculum hours are divided into institutional based 
training (IBT) and employment based training (EBT). The cost 
per SCH is calculated by dividing the total expenditure for VET 
delivered through the Department under the terms of the National 
Agreement for Workforce Development by the total SCH.

The following table provides an indication of the efficiency with 
which the Department strategically manages the investment of 
government resources in the State VET system.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 

Treasurer’s Instruction 903 (12) requires 
the Department to disclose details of 
any Ministerial directives relevant to the 
setting of desired outcomes or operational 
objectives, the achievement of desired 
outcomes or operational objectives, 
investment activities and financing 
activities.

No such directives were issued by the 
Minister for Training and Workforce 
Development in 2014–15.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

Pricing policies of services 
provided
The fees charged by public providers for 
vocational education and training (VET) 
delivery are governed by section 67 of 
the Vocational Education and Training 
Act 1996, and Part 3 Division 2 and 
Schedule 1 of the Vocational Education 
and Training (Colleges) Regulations 1996. 
All publicly funded VET providers are 
required to charge fees in accordance with 
the Department’s VET fees and charges 
policy 2015.

Fees are calculated at an hourly rate 
based on nominal hours for each unit 
commenced in 2015. The course fee 
structure for 2015 is outlined in table 6.

For vocational courses, a course fee is 
charged which is the sum of fees for all 
units in which the student enrols. Providers 
may also charge fees for resources 
consumed or used by students during the 
course of their study. This is set by training 
providers and must be communicated to 
students in advance of enrolment.

Table 6: Course fees in 2015

Category of enrolment Fee rate per 
nominal hour

Annual 
maximum fee 
per course7

Non-concession student

Diploma or Advanced Diploma $5.67 $7 700

Apprenticeships, traineeships, and priority
industry qualifications (up to Certificate IV)

$3.09

General industry training (up to Certificate IV) $4.65

Foundation skills courses $0.21

Concession student8

Diploma or Advanced Diploma $5.67 $7 700

Apprenticeships, traineeships, and priority
industry qualifications (up to Certificate IV)

$1.55

General industry training (up to Certificate IV) $2.32

Foundation skills courses $0.21
7  For secondary school-aged persons born on or after 1 July 1997 and who are at least 15 years old, the maximum course fee   
 chargeable in 2015 is $410. This maximum applies to the total course fees for one or more courses for both concessional   
 and non-concessional students.
8  The following students are entitled to the concession rate on course fees:
a)  Persons and dependants of persons holding a Pensioner Concession Card, a Health Care Card or a Repatriation Health   
 Benefits Card (issued by the Department of Veterans’ Affairs).
b) Persons and dependants of persons in receipt of AUSTUDY or ABSTUDY.
c) Persons and dependants of persons in receipt of the Youth Allowance.
d) Persons who are inmates of a custodial institution.
e) Secondary school-age persons born on or after 1 July 1997 and who are at least 15 years old.

Notes
• The Course in Applied Vocational Study Skills (CAVSS) and the Course in Underpinning Skills for Industry Qualifications (USIQ) 

are always co-delivered with a vocational qualification. Enrolments in CAVSS and USIQ are exempt from course fees.
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Major capital projects

A. Projects completed
The following capital works programs were 
completed in the 2014–15 financial year.

• Rockingham Trade Training Centre 
(Challenger Institute of Technology)

• Peel Health and Community Services 
training facility (Challenger Institute of 
Technology)

• Albany Community Services and Health 
Science Block (Great Southern Institute 
of Technology)

• Broome Trade Training Centre 
(Kimberley Training Institute)

• Green Skills Training Centre in East 
Perth (Central Institute of Technology)

Pictured above: Peel Health and Community Services Building (Challenger Institute of Technology)
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B. Projects in progress

State Training 
Provider

Project Expected 
completion  

date

Actual 
expenditure 

2014–15
($'000)

Actual expenditure 
2013–14 (includes 

capital grants)
($'000)

Estimated cost 
to complete 

($'000)

Estimated  
total cost
($'000)

Challenger Institute 
of Technology

Rockingham campus – Trade 
Training Centre redevelopment

June 2015 1 977 9 745 242 27 166

Durack Institute of 
Technology

Batavia coast marine – 
remediation work for water 
filtration system

June 2015 1 318 248 0 3 010

Great Southern 
Institute of 
Technology

Albany campus – Community 
services and health science 
block (Royalties for Regions)

December 2015 824 3 783 377 5 764

Kimberley Training 
Institute

Broome campus –  
Trade Training Centre  
(Royalties for Regions)

June 2015 5 345 8 934 0 15 400

Pilbara Institute South Hedland and Karratha 
campuses – upgrade and 
expansion  
(Royalties for Regions)

May 2016 3 304 5 254 6 180 15 219

Durack Institute 
of Technology

Geraldton campus – Centre for 
health industries training

December 2015 8 842 6 478 744 16 720

Durack Institute 

of Technology▲
Geraldton campus – Centre for 
resources training sector

July 2015 6 041 2 508 0 9 000

Challenger Institute 
of Technology●

Peel campus – health and 
community training centre – 
stage 1

December 2014 1 445 3 774 340 5 879
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State Training 
Provider

Project Expected 
completion  

date

Actual 
expenditure 

2014–15
($'000)

Actual expenditure 
2013–14 (includes 

capital grants)
($'000)

Estimated cost 
to complete 

($'000)

Estimated  
total cost
($'000)

Challenger Institute of 
Technology▲●

Murdoch campus – stage 4 September 2017 2 278 647 39 045 41 970

Muresk Institute● Muresk Institute campus 
upgrade

June 2015 1 094 805 1 848 4 707

Challenger Institute of 
Technology●

Australian Centre of Energy 
and Process Training

July 2017 482 0 13 918 14 400

Pilbara Institute▲ Health and Allied Services 
Training

May 2016 979 191 9 320 12 400

Pilbara Institute▲ Electrical Instrumentation 
Centre

July 2016 1 171 181 6 408 7 760

Goldfields Institute of 
Technology

Goldfields Arts Centre December 2015 3 713 259 1 028 5 000

New remedial works 
project*

McLarty campus February 2016 1 987 0 4 013 6 000

Remedial works 
project

Mt Lawley campus February 2016 0 0 4 047 4 047

 ▲ Includes a co-contribution.
 ● State Government Asset Investment Program efficiency measure included.
 * Part of $31.3 million remedial works package.
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Employee profile
The Department employs public service 
officers who are primarily located in the 
metropolitan area. From the 2013–14 to 
2014–15 reporting period there was an 
increase in the Department’s full time 
equivalent (FTE) employee numbers. 
This was due to the transfer of the 
training sector shared services staff 
from the Department of Education to the 
Department.

2013–14 2014–15

Male Female Male Female

Employee by gender (headcount) 172 324 194 360

Employee median age (headcount) 45.5 43.7 45.9 44.5

Employment arrangement:  
part time (headcount) 9 61 8 69

Employment arrangement:  
full time (headcount) 162 260 186 289

Employee work location:  
metropolitan (FTE) 417.9 479

Employee work location:  
regional (FTE) 28.8 21.5

Employment status:  
permanent (headcount) 392 472

Employment status:
fixed term (headcount) 100 80

Employment status:  
casual (headcount) 4 2

Source: Human Resources Management Information System 30 June 2015
Note: Includes officers on secondment from other Government agencies.
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Development and review of 
Human Resources policies
The Department evaluates and reviews its 
human resources policies with information 
from internal focus groups and key 
stakeholders. 

In 2014–15, the Department reviewed 28 
human resources policies and developed 
one new policy.

Learning and development
In 2014–15, the Department continued to 
demonstrate its commitment to learning 
and development through:

• a training needs analysis to highlight 
professional development needs;

• a calendar of professional development 
for staff;

• a management development program;

• a comprehensive induction program 
offered to all new employees;

• a government trainees program;

• a graduate program; and

• an interdepartmental mentoring program 
with the Department of Finance, 
the Department of Treasury and the 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs.

Industrial relations
The Department’s Human Resources 
branch coordinates workplace and 
industrial matters where there are 
implications in the wider context of 
the State training sector. This includes 
providing labour relations advice and 
support to the Department and to State 
Training Providers (STPs) on a broad 
range of matters, including discipline and 
management of substandard performance. 

The Department has represented STPs 
on joint consultative committees with the 
State School Teachers’ Union of Western 
Australia and in the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission on 
matters including alleged unfair dismissal 
and general industrial disputes. 

The Department successfully concluded 
negotiations for the Western Australian 
TAFE Lecturers’ General Agreement 2014.

Governance disclosures: 
contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers 
are members, or entities in which senior 
officers have substantial interests, had any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts 
with the Department other than normal 
contracts of employment of service.

STAFFING POLICIES 
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Expenditure on advertising, 
market research, polling and 
direct mail
In accordance with section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, the agency incurred 
the following expenditure on advertising, 
market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising. 

Total expenditure for 2014–15 was  
$574 916. Expenditure was incurred in the 
following areas.

Expenditure category Vendor name Amount

Advertising agencies
MarketForce Retail Pty Ltd
Rare Creative Thinking
Linkletters

$153 173
$24 295
$26 726

Market research organisations Taylor Nelson Sofres Australia
Painted Dog Research

$26 726
$63 238

Polling organisations Nil Nil

Direct mail organisations Northside Logistics and Finishers $10 097

Media advertising organisations
Adcorp Australia Limited
Optimum Media and Decisions
Facebook

$8 984
$286 228
$1 855

Total $574 916

Expenditure category Vendor name Amount

Advertising agencies
MarketForce Retail Pty Ltd
Rare Creative Thinking
Linkletters

 $153 173
 $24 295
 $320

Market research organisations Taylor Nelson Sofres Australia
Painted Dog Research

 $26 726
 $63 238

Polling organisations Nil  Nil

Direct mail organisations Northside Logistics and Finishers  $10 097

Media advertising organisations
Adcorp Australia Limited
Optimum Media and Decisions
Facebook

 $8 984
 $286 228
 $1 855

Total  $574 916
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Disability access and inclusion 
plan outcomes
The Disability Services Act 1993 requires 
all Western Australian public agencies to 
have a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan. The Department’s Disability access 
and inclusion plan 2011–16 (DAIP) shows 
how the Department provides a workforce 
and vocational education and training 
system in which all Western Australians 
are given the opportunity to participate 
fully. The DAIP specifies actions and 
responsibilities for each directorate to 
improve access to the Department’s 
facilities, services and information for 
people with disability. Annual reports 
are provided to the Disability Services 
Commission in July each year.

All Department policies are required to be 
developed in the context of the DAIP and 
information is provided to staff at induction 
and online. The DAIP is also available 
in electronic format on the Department’s 
website. The DAIP provides guidelines 
to agents and contractors to ensure that 
everyone has equal access to services 
provided by the Department.

Outcome Actions Status

People with disability have the same 
access to services of and events 
organised by the Department.

The Department funds customised training and support 
services for people facing barriers preventing access to 
mainstream training.
DAIP requirements are included in all tender 
documents and service agreements where services 
are provided to the public.

Ongoing

Ongoing

People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the buildings and other facilities of the 
Department.

Non-compliances identified at Optima Building, 
Osborne Park resulted in a number of changes, to 
improve the access for people with disability:
• automatic doors installed.
• high visibility checker floor mats installed in front 

of entry points.
• a ramp was installed to complement the Level 2 

automatic door.

Ongoing

People with disability receive information 
from the Department in a format that will 
enable them to access the information 
as readily as other people.

The Department’s Writing style guide was revised 
in April 2015 to ensure inclusive and contemporary 
language is used in all communications and 
publications.

Ongoing 
(last 
reviewed 
April 2015)

People with disability receive the same 
level and quality of service from the 
staff of the Department as other people 
receive from the staff of the Department.

In induction training, staff are trained on ethical 
conduct and their responsibilities under the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1992.

Ongoing

People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation 
by the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development.

Public consultation venues support participation by 
people with disability to ensure equal access.

Ongoing

People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
and participate in employment at the 
Department of Training and Workforce 
Development.

The Department ensures policies and procedures 
are in place to support employees. Support such 
as occupational health and safety, rehabilitation 
employee assistance and mediation exist to ensure 
all employees can fully participate in the workforce. 

Ongoing



2014–15 Annual Report 129

Compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and ethical codes
The Department complies with public 
sector standards and the Public Sector 
Commission's Code of ethics through its 
own Code of conduct. Breach of standard 
claims are managed as required by the 
Public Sector Management (Breaches 
of Public Sector Standards) Regulations 
2005. 

The Department ensures compliance with 
Public Sector Standards through:

• providing information about the 
standards in relevant human resource 
management policies and resources;

• providing an advisory and consultancy 
service to staff on standards related 
matters;

• including information about the Public 
Sector Commission's Code of ethics 
and the Department’s Code of conduct 
in staff induction program;

• notifying job applicants of their rights 
and obligations prescribed by the 
regulations; and

• requiring all new staff to complete 
training in accountable and ethical 
decision making.

During the reporting period, there were no 
breach claims lodged with the Department. 

Management of complaints 
General complaints are managed in 
accordance with the Department’s 
Complaints management policy through: 
E: feedback@dtwd.wa.gov.au
T: 6551 5000

The policy conforms to Australian standard 
and public sector requirements.

In 2014–15, one complaint from 
members of the public was received and 
satisfactorily resolved.

Key program areas manage complaints 
and enquiries as identified below.

Apprenticeship Office
E: apprenticeshipoffice@dtwd.wa.gov.au
T: 13 19 54

Career Centre 
E: career.centre@dtwd.wa.gov.au
T: 13 23 98 or 9224 6500

Future Skills WA
E: futureskillswa@dtwd.wa.gov.au
T: 6551 5567

Enquiries are referred to the responsible 
area and responses are quality checked 
and responded to efficiently.

Internal grievance issues are managed in 
accordance with the Grievance resolution 
policy consistent with relevant legislation, 
the Public Sector Commission's Code of 
ethics, the Department’s Code of conduct 
and relevant Department policies.

The Commonwealth Government’s National 
Training Complaints Hotline set up in early 
2015 resides with the Department, receiving 
complaints referred by the Commonwealth 
to Western Australia.

The Department’s Complaints 
management policy applies for complaints 
received about its own products and 
services. All other complaints are referred 
to relevant agencies for action. Quarterly 
updates are provided to the Department’s 
Corporate Executive.

Misconduct management
The Department reports potential 
misconduct to the Corruption and Crime 
Commission (CCC) as required under the 
relevant legislation. In 2014–15 no new 
notifications of potential misconduct were 
made to the CCC.
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Public interest disclosure
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 
facilitates the disclosure of information 
in the public interest about matters of 
wrongdoing, corruption or improper 
conduct within the Western Australian 
public sector. The legislation provides 
protections for the person raising the 
disclosure and any person about whom the 
disclosure is made.

The Department has eight fully trained 
Public Interest Disclosure (PID) officers. 
There were no public interest disclosures  
during 2014–15.

The Department’s induction program 
provides information and raises awareness 
in relation to the PID legislation, including 
the process for making disclosures.

Working with children checks
The Working with Children (Criminal 
Record Checking) Act 2004 makes it 
compulsory for people in child related work 
to apply for a Working with children check. 
The Department currently has 85 positions 
assessed as requiring a Working with 
children check.

Criminal convictions screening
The Department’s Criminal convictions 
screening policy requires all employees to 
hold a National Police Certificate which is 
valid for five years. In the 2014–15 year, 
35 employees were screened for criminal 
convictions.

Record keeping plans
Under the State Records Act 2000, 
every government agency is required to 
develop a Record keeping plan (RKP). 
The efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Department’s RKP is evaluated regularly 
to ensure compliance to the Act. 

Work began on the next submission to 
the State Records Commission due in 
December 2016. An updated retention and 
disposal schedule was approved by the 
State Records Office in December 2014.

The Department uses Total Record 
Information Management (TRIM) to 
manage physical and electronic records 
including management of the retention and 
disposal of such records. 

Under the Department’s Records 
management policy, all staff are required 
to have been trained in basic records 

awareness and the use of TRIM. Staff 
must complete the introductory course 
before access to TRIM is granted.

During 2014–15, 66 Department staff 
completed a TRIM introductory course 
and a further five completed an advanced 
training course. In addition, 21 TRIM 
customised courses were run for specific 
business areas to align and improve local 
records management practices. 

A number of TRIM help sheets and videos 
were developed and published on the 
Department’s intranet to assist staff. New 
staff were also provided with an overview 
and made aware of their record keeping 
obligations as part of the Department’s 
induction program. 

Since the establishment of the Department 
in 2009, 887 staff have completed records 
awareness training. Seventy nine staff 
completed the training during 2014–15.
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

Substantive equality
The Department ensured that substantive 
equality was integrated into policies, 
workplaces and services provided to and 
by the Department.

The Substantive equality framework and 
the Substantive equality policy continued 
to be implemented in 2014–15. Strategies 
and services which helped to reduce 
systemic racial discrimination included:

• Training Together – working together, 
Aboriginal workforce development 
strategy;

• Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Centres;

• Mercycare Workforce Development 
Centre (assists people from a culturally 
and linguistically diverse background);

• migration services (education/
qualification assessment);

• Reconciliation action plan 2013–15;

• Aboriginal School-based Training 
program;

• Language services policy (assisting 
people who require interpreters);

• Joint Group Training program;

• regional workforce development 
plans; and

• foundation skills training under Future 
Skills WA. 

During 2014–15 the Department continued 
its participation on 15 committees 
statewide which were established to assist 
under-represented groups.

The Substantive equality policy is being 
reviewed to broaden its scope to cover all 
forms of systemic discrimination. 

Language services policy
The Western Australian language 
services policy aims to ensure that 
language is not a barrier to Government 
services and programs. The Department 
focuses on those business areas which 
deliver services directly to the public. 
In the reporting period, translating and 
interpreting services were provided for 
Career Centre, and Education and Training 
International clients. Auslan interpreting 
services were provided for one student.

Occupational safety and health
and injury management
The Department endeavours to at all times 
provide a safe and healthy workplace and 
ensure compliance with the Occupational 
Safety and Health Act 1984. 

In February 2014, the Department’s 
Occupational safety and health 
management plan 2013–14 was 
endorsed by the Occupational Safety and 
Health Committee and supplemented by 
the Workplace health and wellbeing plan 
2013–15.

The Department is committed to providing 
a safe and healthy work environment for 
employees, contractors and visitors. 

In 2014–15 an additional safety and health 
representative was elected, bringing the 
total number of representatives to seven. 

The Department provided a 
comprehensive in-house ergonomic 
assessment service with 63 assessments 
completed since July 2014.
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Workers’ compensation
To ensure best practice in the 
management of workers’ compensation 
claims the Department holds regular 
claim review meetings with RiskCover. 
All workers’ compensation claims 
are managed by RiskCover and 
the Department in accordance with 
legislative requirements to minimise time 
lost. In 2014–15, there were four new 
compensation claims and two carried over 
from the previous reporting period. 

This compares to three compensation 
claims recorded in 2013–14.

The Department provides assistance 
to employees who sustain an injury or 
illness in the course of their duties and 
facilitates an early return to work where 
practicable. The Department has an Injury 
management and workers’ compensation 
policy developed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981. 

The Department also provides assistance 
to employees with non-compensable 
injuries or illnesses to remain in the 
workplace where possible or facilitate an 
early return to work. A comprehensive 
Return to work program is developed for 
each case under medical supervision.

Measure
Actual results

Target Comment on result
2013–14 2014–15

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 The Department achieved its target for 
the reporting period

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 3 1 0 or 10% reduction Low number of injuries remains static

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 1 0 0 or 10% reduction Low number of injuries remains static

Percentage of injured workers returned  
to work
(i)  within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

100%
100%

100%
100%

0 or 10% reduction
80%

Achieved target
Achieved target

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 69% 86% Greater than or equal to 80% Achieved target
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Occupational safety and  
health training
The Department has incorporated 
occupational safety and health (OSH) 
awareness training into its mandatory 
induction program. The Department 
identified the need for additional 
comprehensive OSH training and in 2013 
implemented two self-paced online training 
modules targeting employees with and 
without managerial responsibilities.

Occupational safety and  
health assessment
The minimum key OSH performance 
indicators to be met by public sector 
agencies are set out in the Code of practice: 
Occupational Safety and Health in the WA 
Public Sector, and the WA public sector 
agency requirements to adopt these are 
outlined in the Premier’s Circular 2012–05.

 

An assessment of the Department’s OSH 
management system was carried out 
in 2011 using the Department’s Safety 
management plan, which adapts the 
five key elements of the Department 
of Commerce’s WorkSafe Plan to the 
Department’s work environment. The 
findings of that assessment led to the 
following agreed actions for improvement, 
all of which were progressed in 2014–15, 
as follows.

Agreed actions Progress 2014–15

Appoint and appropriately train safety and health representatives. Seven trained representatives operate across the Department. A register 
of current representatives is maintained.

Establish a documented hazard identification and investigation process. The Department’s hazard identification process is reported against 
quarterly, and a database is maintained.

Establish mechanisms for workplace consultation on occupational safety  
and health matters.

The Department’s OSH Committee meets quarterly and the OSH 
management plan is reviewed annually.

Complete hazard inspections of work areas on a regular basis. Workplace inspections are performed and recorded across the 
Department biannually.

Establish an OSH record keeping register. An OSH register is maintained and a database is kept.

Appoint first aid officers and fire wardens. 14 trained first aid officers and trained fire wardens operate across the 
Department.
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Agreed actions Progress 2014–15

Fifty per cent of managers and supervisors trained in OSH as per the 
requirements of the Code of practice.

Eighty six per cent of managers and supervisors are currently trained  
in OSH. 

Re-tender the employee assistance program.
OPTUM (previously known as PPC Worldwide) have successfully 
renewed their contract. Quarterly reports are provided on services 
rendered.

Develop a Department health and wellbeing program. A health and wellbeing program operates across the Department.

Develop a Culture, wellbeing, health and safety policy.
The Department conducted the annual review of its Occupational safety 
and health policy and Worker’s compensation and injury management 
policy. These were updated in March and April 2015 respectively.

Flu vaccinations to be provided to employees. Flu vaccinations are offered to all staff each year and there is strong take 
up across the Department.

Global Corporate Challenge (GCC) involvement.  
This is an annual health and wellbeing event.

The GCC is offered to all staff each year and there is strong participation 
across the Department.

Develop a corporate health calendar.
All health and wellbeing activities are extensively promoted through 
internal newsletter articles, Corporate Leadership Group emails and 
posters displayed in communal areas.
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APPENDIX 1: TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT 

Aboriginal: The term ‘Aboriginal’ 
is intended to include reference to 
Torres Strait Islanders and Indigenous 
Australians.

Calendar year: While most data in this 
report describe the 2014–15 financial  
year, some data describe the 2014 
calendar year. This is because most 
vocational education and training (VET) 
courses are delivered by calendar year. 
Where possible, snapshots of training 
activity as at 30 June 2015 are also 
provided, to provide an indication of  
more recent activity.

Course enrolments: This measure is 
used in preference to a head-count of 
students, because it provides a more 
reliable measure, allowing the data to be 
consistently analysed by variables such 
as delivery location and funding source. 
Enrolments are considered valid once 
some activity has been recorded which 
excludes cases where students enrol but 
do not commence training.

Department: The term ‘the Department’ 
refers to the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development.

Module load completion rate (MLCR): 
This describes the extent to which clients 
complete the training in which they enrol. 
Modules are the components from which 
courses are constructed, and the module 
load is the total student curriculum hours 
attributed to a module. The MLCR is the 
proportion of module load successfully 
completed out of the total commenced. 
This measure is used in preference to 
qualification completions, which may take 
several years to be reported (reducing 
their usefulness for regular monitoring and 
reporting) and because students may enrol 
with the intention of only completing a few 
units, rather than a whole qualification.

Student curriculum hours (SCH): This 
measure describes the agreed nominal 
value of hours associated with a module 
or unit of competency. It is a fixed value 
(or ‘weighting’) and does not describe the 
actual hours that an individual student 
spends in class or doing homework. SCH 
is considered the most objective measure 
of VET effort as it reflects the volume of 
training activity occurring.
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APPENDIX 2: ACRONYMS 

ASBT Aboriginal school-based training

AWDC Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre

CCC Corruption and Crime Commission

CISC COAG Industry and Skills Council

COAG Council of Australian Governments

CRM Customer relationship management

DAIP Disability access and inclusion plan

EBT Employment based training

ELICOS English Language Intensive Course for  
 Overseas Students

GTO Group training organisation

IBT Institutional based training

ICT Information and communications technology

JSA  Job Services Australia

KPI Key performance indicator

MLCR Module load completion rate

NCVER National Centre for Vocational Education Research

NIA Needs and impact assessment

OQU Overseas Qualifications Unit

OSH Occupational safety and health

PID Public interest disclosure

RKP Record keeping plan

RPL Recognition of prior learning

RTW Return to work

SCH Student curriculum hours

SPOL State priority occupation list

SRC  State Records Commission

STAMP State training asset management plan

STB State Training Board

STP State Training Provider

TRIM Total record information management

USI Unique student identifier

VET Vocational education and training

WACE Western Australian Certificate of Education

WDC Workforce development centre
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APPENDIX 3: DEPARTMENT SERVICES  
CONTACT DETAILS 

Aboriginal workforce development centres (regional)

Broome Shop 6/20 Dampier Terrace T: 9194 9450
E: broome.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Bunbury Podium Level
61 Victoria Street

T: 9722 9550
E: bunbury.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Geraldton Margaret House, 
Bill Sewell Complex
Chapman Road 

T: 9938 4450
E: geraldton.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Kalgoorlie Unit 1/37 Brookman Street T: 9093 8650
E: kalgoorlie.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Customer Service Centre

Level 7, 3 Forrest Place 
(GPO Building) Perth WA 6000

Career Centre T: 13 23 98
TTY: 9225 7831
E: career.centre@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Education and 
Training International

T: +618 9218 2100
E: admissions.eti@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Overseas 
Qualifications Unit

T: 9224 6530
E: oqu@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Skilled Migration WA T: +618 9224 6593
E: migration@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Centre 
(metropolitan)

T: 1800 441 043 or 9224 6535 
E: awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Settlement Services T: 9224 6540 
E: settlementservices@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Apprenticeship Office*
E: apprenticeshipoffice@dtwd.wa.gov.au  
T: 13 19 54
* previously ApprentiCentre

Future Skills WA
W: futureskillswa.wa.gov.au 
E: futureskillswa@dtwd.wa.gov.au 
T: 6551 5567

Muresk Institute
Muresk Road 
Northam WA 6401 
W: dtwd.wa.gov.au/mureskinstitute 
E: Muresk@dtwd.wa.gov.au 
T: 1300 994 031
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APPENDIX 4: FEEDBACK FORM 

The Department of Training and Workforce 
Development welcomes your feedback on  
the Annual Report 2014–15.

1 Overall how effective is the Annual Report in describing 
our activities in 2014–15?

 Very effective  Effective  Average  Poor

2 For what purpose did you read or refer to the  
Annual Report 2014–15?

 Information on the Department and its services

 Information on the Department’s performance in 2014–15

 Information on the future direction of the Department

 Other (please specify)

3 Please rate the following elements of the Annual Report  
(please tick in the relevant box to indicate your rating):

Excellent Good Average Poor

Information/content  

Layout of information  

Ease of finding 
information  

Readability  

Relevance  

4 Please tell us whether you are a:

 Member of the public

 Industry/employer representative

 VET student

 VET professional

 State Government employee

 Other
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5. In your opinion, how could our next Annual Report  
be improved?

6. General comments

7. Overall, how do you rate this Annual Report?

 Excellent  Good  Satisfactory  Poor

Thank you for participating in the survey. Please return  
completed form to: 
E: annual.report@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Post: 
Performance Evaluation and Statistics Branch  
Department of Training and Workforce Development  
Locked Bag 16, Osborne Park Delivery Centre  
Osborne Park, WA 6916

This form is also available on the Department’s website at 
dtwd.wa.gov.au.


